

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Pharmacology & Therapeutics



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pharmthera

Cannabinoids and the endocannabinoid system in fibromyalgia: A review of preclinical and clinical research



Stephanie L. Bourke ^a, Anne Katrin Schlag ^{b,c}, Saoirse Elizabeth O'Sullivan ^d, David J. Nutt ^{b,c}, David P. Finn ^{a,*}

a Pharmacology and Therapeutics, School of Medicine, Centre for Pain Research and Galway Neuroscience Centre, National University of Ireland, Galway, Ireland

^b Drug Science, St. Peters House, Wood Street, London, UK

^c Faculty of Medicine, Department of Brain Sciences, Imperial College London, UK

^d CanPharmaConsulting, Nottingham, UK

ARTICLE INFO

Available online 21 May 2022

Editor: S.J. Enna

Keywords: Fibromyalgia Stress Pain Cannabinoids

ABSTRACT

Characterised by chronic widespread musculoskeletal pain, generalised hyperalgesia, and psychological distress, fibromyalgia (FM) is a significant unmet clinical need. The endogenous cannabinoid system plays an important role in modulating both pain and the stress response. Here, we appraise the evidence, from preclinical and clinical studies, for a role of the endocannabinoid system in FM and the therapeutic potential of targeting the endocannabinoid system. While many animal models have been used to study FM, the reserpine-induced myalgia model has emerged as perhaps the most translatable to the clinical phenotype. Inhibition of fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) has shown promise in preclinical studies, ameliorating pain- and anxiety-related behaviour .

Clinically, there is evidence for alterations in the endocannabinoid system in patients with FM, including single nucleotide polymorphisms and increased levels of circulating endocannabinoids and related *N*-acylethanolamines. Single entity cannabinoids, cannabis, and cannabis-based medicines in patients with FM show promise therapeutically but limitations in methodology and lack of longitudinal studies to assess efficacy and tolerability preclude the current recommendation for their use in patients with FM. Gaps in the literature that warrant further investigation are discussed, particularly the need for further development of animal models with high validity for the multifaceted nature of FM, balanced studies to eliminate sex-bias in preclinical research, and ultimately, better translation between preclinical and clinical research.

© 2022 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction to fibromyalgia
2.	Fibromyalgia comorbidities
3.	Cannabis, cannabinoids, and the endocannabinoid system
4.	Animal models of FM
5.	Alternations in the endocannabinoid system in animal models of FM
6.	Alterations in the endocannabinoid system in patients with FM
7.	Discussion and conclusion

* Corresponding author at: Pharmacology and Therapeutics, School of Medicine, National University of Ireland Galway, Human Biology Building, University Road, Galway H91 W5P7, Ireland.

E-mail address: david.finn@nuigalway.ie (D.P. Finn).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2022.108216

0163-7258/© 2022 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Abbreviations: AEA, anandamide/ *N*-arachidonylethanolamine; AEs, adverse effects; ACR, American College of Rheumatology; BDNF, brain derived neurotrophic factor; CB₁, cannabinoid receptor type 1; CB₂, cannabinoid receptor type 2; CBD, cannabidiol; DAG, diacylglycerol; FAAH, fatty acid amid hydrolase; FIQ, Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire; FM, fibromyalgia; IBS, irritable bowel syndrome; MGL, monoaglycerol lipase; NAE, *N*-acylethanolamine; NAPE, *N*-acyl phosphatidyl ethanolamine; NGF, Nerve growth factor; NRS, numeric rating scale; ODI, Oswestry Disability Index; OEA, *N*-oleoylethanolamine; PEA, *N*-palmitoylethanolamine; PPAR, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor; PSQI, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index; RCT, Randomised controlled trial; RIM, reserpine-induced myalgia; SEA, *N*-stearoylethanolamine; SF-12, 12-Item Short Form Survey; SF-36, 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; SIH, stress-induced hyperalgesia; SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism; THC, Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol; TRPV, transient receptor potential vanilloid; VAS, visual analogue scale; WPI, Widespread Pain Index; 2-AG, 2-arachadonoglycerol.

Declaration of Competing Interest	
Acknowledgments	
References	

1. Introduction to fibromyalgia

1.1. Epidemiology

Chronic pain affects approximately 20% of the adult population (Breivik, Ventafridda, & Gallacher, 2006; Yong & Bhattacharyya, 2022). Chronic pain conditions include fibromyalgia (FM), musculoskeletal pain and joint pain, chronic headache, cancer pain, neuropathic pain, post-surgical pain, and back and neck pain (Barke, Jakob, & Rief, 2022). Originally termed "fibrositis" in 1904 by the British neurologist Sir William Gowers, FM originally encompassed local or regional musculoskeletal pain. Subsequent descriptions of generalised pain by Smythe in 1972 lead to the term "fibromyalgia" being coined in 1976.

FM affects millions of people worldwide and has a significant impact on quality of life. Globally, there are variable epidemiological data for FM. For example, in the United States, one study (Brill, Goor-Aryeh, & Slefer, 2012) reported a prevalence of 6.4% of the overall population, while another study a year later (Wolfe, 2013) reported a prevalence of 2.1%. This high degree of variability is due to the lack of consistency in diagnosis, whereby different classification criteria were used. Moreover, some studies generalise estimates on the prevalence of FM based off a certain patient population which doesn't accurately represent the overall demographic. On average, the reported prevalence of FM in the general population is approximately 2–4%, afflicting women more than men (Stensson, Ernberg, Kosek, & Ghafouri, 2020) with the incidence increasing with age (Vincent, Wolfe, & Whipple, 2013).

1.2. Characteristics/symptomatology

FM is characterised by complex polysymptomatology, especially chronic widespread pain which includes generalised hyperalgesia and palpation-specific tender points, fatigue, stiffness, sleep disturbances, as well as somatic and cognitive dysfunction (Sarzi-Puttini, 2020). A major challenge for patients with FM is reaching a diagnosis, often remaining undiagnosed for many years or even misdiagnosed (Häuser & Fitzcharles, 2019). Diagnosis of FM, on average, takes 2.3 years and patients usually have to attend multiple medical specialists during that time (Alexander, DeVries, Kigerl, Dahlman, & Popovich, 2009; Choy, Leon, Petersel, & Kramer, 2010). Due to the complexity and multifaceted nature of FM, it constitutes a significant diagnostic challenge for clinicians.

Several classification, diagnostic and screening criteria have been developed, but there continues to be a need to further refine these criteria to reflect the current and evolving understanding of FM. Clinical diagnosis of FM is largely based on criteria endorsed by the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) which were first introduced in 1990 wherein pain pressure up to 4 kg/cm² was evaluated at 18 specified body points (Wolfe, Yunus, Bombardier, & Tugwell, 1990). For diagnosis, pain must be elicited in at least 11 of the 18 points. However, these criteria were widely denounced for a number of reasons, including; difficulties in using pressure algometry in the primary healthcare setting (Buskila, 1997; Fitzcharles, 2003) and limited predictive validity for clinical pain. Moreover, there was a narrow diagnostic window where there was very little space for variation of symptoms (and loss of FM diagnosis with moderate symptom improvement) which ultimately led to subsequent revisions of the ACR classification (Wolfe, Fitzcharles, Katz, & Russell, 2010). In 2010, the ACR revised the previous classification for FM diagnosis and introduced a new classification that was easier to apply and interpret. In particular, the new revised classification did not require tender point examination and was consistent and easy to apply by primary care physicians in all healthcare settings (Wolfe et al., 2010).

1.3. Pathophysiology

The aetiology and pathophysiology of FM remains unclear but is thought to involve a number of components stemming from a dysfunction in central processing, including central sensitisation and impaired processing in the descending inhibitory pain pathway. Central sensitisation is a phenomenon that manifests as enhanced function of neurons and circuits within the somatosensory system in response to activity, inflammation, and neural injury (Ji, Huh, & Maixner, 2018). It results from increased membrane excitability and synaptic efficacy, coupled with reduced inhibition of the somatosensory system resulting in plastic changes.

Dysfunction in neurotransmitter, neuroendocrine and autonomic nervous systems has been reported in patients with FM. Abnormalities have been detected in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with FM, including elevated levels of substance P (Russell, Littman, & Alboukrek, 1994), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), nerve growth factor (NGF) (Sarchielli, Floridi, Rossi, Acciarresi, & Calabresi, 2007) and lower levels of serotonin metabolites (Russell, 1992). Conflicting reports of normative and elevated levels of BDNF and NGF have also been reported in serum and plasma samples of patients with FM (Nugraha & Gutenbrunner, 2013; Ranzolin, 2016). Serum levels of BDNF have been found to be age-dependent in healthy controls which could account for the conflicting reports if appropriate age-matched controls were not used (Nugraha & Gutenbrunner, 2013). For example, in a recent study, there was no evidence that peripheral growth factors, BDNF or NGF, were altered in patients with FM but the authors acknowledged that there was significant heterogeneity between the clinical and control groups in age, gender, medications and alcohol consumption ((Baumeister, Saft, & Hellweg, 2019). Nonetheless, alterations in NGF and BDNF could indicate a central mechanism by which central growth factors drive the development of sensitisation, particularly as BDNF readily crosses the blood-brain barrier (Pan, Fasold, & Kastin 1998).

Lower levels of serotonin have also been reported in serum of patients with FM compared to healthy controls, which were also found to correlate with severity of the disease (Al-Nimer & Alsakeni, 2018; Cordero, 2010; Wolfe, Vipraio, & Anderson, 1997). This is an important finding, given the role of serotonin nociception.

Genetic factors, such as a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in the serotonin transporter (SLC6A4) gene, have been detected in patients with FM (Cohen, 2002), and in comorbid somatic disorders such as irritable bowel syndrome (Yeo et al., 2004). A Catechol-Omethyltransferase gene polymorphism has also been detected in patients with FM, which influences anxiety, depression and disability (Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, Gil-Crujera, & Peñacoba-Puente, 2012).

Stress is also thought to contribute to the pathophysiology of FM. Many patients with FM have identified a stressful event that may have triggered the onset of their chronic pain, such as emotional, physical or sexual abuse (Häuser, Üceyler, & Sommer, 2011). Cortisol levels in patients with FM have demonstrated to be quite variable, but it is thought that lower levels of cortisol in patients with FM (Lin, Chow, Liu, & Chen, 2021; Riva, Westgaard, & Lundberg, 2010) could be due to a maladaptive response to stress resulting from a central abnormality of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis.

Another hypothesis on the pathophysiology of FM is small fibre neuropathy. Small fibre neuropathy is a disorder of the peripheral nerves that primarily affects small myelinated Aδ fibres or unmyelinated C fibres, resulting in altered nociception and autonomic dysfunction. Small fibre neuropathy has been identified in 30-41% of patients with FM (Giannoccaro, Incensi, & Liguori, 2014; Kosmidis, Alexopoulos, Vlachoyiannopoulos, Moutsopoulos, & Dalakas, 2014) (Oaklander, 2013). Idiopathic small fibre neuropathy and severe FM have been associated with SCN9A gene-encoded Nav1.7 dorsal root ganglia sodium channel gain-of-function variant (Faber, Ahn, Han, Estacion, & Gerrits, 2012; Vargas-Alarcon, Fragoso, Martinez, & Martinez-Lavin, 2012). These channels are predominantly expressed in nociceptors in the dorsal root ganglia and sympathetic ganglia neurons (Djouhri & Levinson, 2003; Toledo-Aral, He, Whisenand, & Wolf, 1997). Hyperexcitability of C-fibres has been reported in patients with FM and SFN (Serra, Solà, & Torres, 2014). Therefore, it is plausible that small fibre neuropathy could be a peripheral nervous system contributor to the complex pathophysiology of pain associated with FM (Üceyler, Kahn, Kittel-Schneider, Casanova-Molla, & Sommer, 2013).

FM is associated with the presence of soft tissue pain of the muscles, ligaments, and tendons. However, previous FM studies have not consistently shown evidence of peripheral abnormalities or tissue inflammation, unlike some other chronic pain conditions (Jahan, 2012). Therefore, despite chronic widespread pain often being debilitating, patients with FM do not develop tissue damage or life-threatening symptoms, suffer from any deformities, or experience disease progression.

It has been suggested that FM could be a "clinical endocannabinoid deficiency" syndrome (Russo, 2004), whereby levels of endocannabinoids are lower in patients with FM, which contributes to the manifestation of the clinical symptoms associated with the disease. However, there are few published studies supporting this. In fact, from the limited literature available, (Kaufmann et al., 2008; Stensson, Ernberg, Kosek, & Ghafouri, 2018) elevated levels of endocannabinoids and associated *N*-acylethanolamines are reported in patients with FM, rather than a deficiency. These and related studies will be discussed in more detail in section 6.2.

2. Fibromyalgia comorbidities

2.1. Psychiatric

The high prevalence of psychiatric comorbidities in FM has been well established. The most common comorbidities include depression, anxiety and personality disorders (e.g. obsessive-compulsive) (Galvez-Sánchez & Reyes Del Paso, 2019; Kayhan & Satan, 2016; Uguz, Salli, Albayrak, & Uğurlu, 2010). Concurrent psychiatric conditions in patients with FM are important indicators of treatment response for physicians, typically being associated with worse prognosis and clinical profile and reduced quality of life due to reduced functional abilities and increased pain perception (Giesecke, Harris, & Tian, 2003).

A recent systemic review revealed a high prevalence for current and lifetime depression, 43% and 63%, respectively, in patients with FM (Kleykamp, McNicol, Arnold, & Fillingim, 2021). It is not surprising that FM is frequently found comorbid with depression and anxiety as they share common neurochemical dysfunction such as a hypofunction within the serotonergic system and altered reactivity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. The data available on the prevalence of lifetime and/or current anxiety disorders concurring with FM have been reported in numerous studies with a high degree of variability, ranging from 30 to 80% (Arnold & Keck, 2006; Consoli, Ciapparelli, Massimetti, Rossi, & Dell'Osso, 2012; Kleykamp et al., 2021). In addition to depression and anxiety, Kleykamp et al. (2021) also found that nearly one third of patients examined experienced current or lifetime bipolar disorder, panic disorder and post-traumatic stress disorder, as well as to a lesser degree, obsessive-compulsive disorder and specific phobias.

2.2. Non-psychiatric

FM is often accompanied by other somatic comorbidities such as irritable bowel syndrome, migraine and temporal mandibular disorder. Irritable Bowel Syndrome is a functional disorder of the gastrointestinal tract characterised by abdominal pain, spasms, and altered bowel movements. A recent case-control study found that the prevalence of FM in a cohort of patients with irritable bowel syndrome was 30% compared with 3% of healthy controls (Bayrak, 2020). The prevalence of FM in patients with irritable bowel syndrome ranges from 32 to 77% and the prevalence of irritable bowel syndrome in patients with FM ranges from 28 to 65%, demonstrating a bi-directional relationship (Whitehead & Jones, 2002). This bi-directional association is also observed in patients with migraine and FM and also in temporomandibular disorder and FM (Lim & Khan, 2011; Penn, Chuang, & Kao, 2019). The prevalence of migraine with FM ranges from 18 to 35.6% (Peres, Kaup, & Silberstein, 2001).

3. Cannabis, cannabinoids, and the endocannabinoid system

3.1. Receptors

To date, two cannabinoid receptors belonging to the G-proteincoupled receptor family have been discovered and validated as the main pharmacological targets of cannabinoids: the cannabinoid receptor type 1 (CB₁) (Devane, Johnson, & Howlett, 1988) and the cannabinoid receptor type 2 (CB₂) (Munro & Abu-Shaar, 1993). The CB₁ receptor is encoded by the gene *CNR1* and consists of 472 amino acids in humans (473 amino acids in rat and mouse, with 97–99% amino acid sequence identity among these species). The CB₂ receptor is encoded by the gene *CNR2*, which consists of 360 amino acids in humans (with an amino acid sequence homology of approximately 80% between humans and rodents) (Zou & Kumar, 2018).

The CB₁ receptor is the most abundant neuromodulatory receptor in the brain, but is also found in most tissues in the periphery. Cannabinoid receptors are expressed at peripheral, spinal and supraspinal sites involved of relevance to pain and its modulation. In supraspinal sites involved in the modulation of pain, the CB₁ receptor is ubiquitously expressed, particularly in the amygdala, thalamus, parabrachial nucleus, periaqueductal grey, and rostroventral medulla (Starowicz & Finn, 2017). At the level of the spinal cord, the CB₁ receptor is expressed in dorsolateral funiculus and the superficial dorsal horn. Both CB₁ and CB₂ are expressed peripherally in the dorsal root ganglia with CB₁ also being expressed in peripheral sensory nerve endings (Starowicz & Finn, 2017). The CB₂ receptor is expressed on microglia in the central nervous system and is predominantly found on the cells and tissues of the immune system, and is upregulated in times of need, suggesting a role for the endocannabinoid system as a modulator of the immune system.

Since the identification of CB_1 and CB_2 receptors, other putative cannabinoid receptors have been identified, including members of the orphan G-protein-coupled receptors; GPR18 (Console-Bram, Brailoiu, & Abood, 2014), GPR55 (Lauckner & Chen, 2008), GPR119 (Syed, Beavers, Ficorilli, & Kuo, 2012), transient receptor potential vanilloid (TRPV) channels (Muller & Reggio, 2019), and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs)(O'Sullivan, 2007), all of which have been shown to modulate nociception (Guerrero-Alba, González-Hernández, Granados-Soto, & Marichal-Cancino, 2019).

3.2. Ligands (phyto, synthetic and endogenous)

There are three classes of cannabinoid ligands: phyto- (plant derived), synthetic- and endogenous cannabinoids (endocannabinoids). *Cannabis sativa*, has been cultivated and used for recreational and medicinal purposes for at least 5000 years (Crocq, 2020). Cannabis contains more than a hundred phytocannabinoids that have been identified to date (Hanuš, Muñoz, & Appendino, 2016; Morales & Reggio, 2017). Phytocannabinoids are a diverse class of naturally occurring chemical compounds, some of which interact with, and mediate their effects via, CB₁ and CB₂ receptors, both centrally and in the periphery.

The most prevalent and well-characterised phytocannabinoids are Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) and cannabidiol (CBD). THC is a partial agonist for CB₁ and CB₂ receptors and with high binding affinity for CB₁, which mediates its psychoactive effects. CBD's orthosteric binding to CB₁ receptors is weak, however, recent pharmacological studies have demonstrated that CBD is a negative allosteric modulator of CB₁ and an orthosteric partial agonist at CB₂ receptors (Laprairie, 2015; Tham & Alaverdashvili, 2019). Nabiximols, also known as Sativex®, is a Food and Drug Administration (FDA)- approved oromucosal spray containing CBD and THC extracts in a 1:1 ratio derived from the cannabis plant that is approved for treatment of spasticity associated with multiple sclerosis. Epidiolex® is pharmaceutical-grade and FDA-approved pure CBD used for the treatment of epilepsy.

Endocannabinoids are unsaturated fatty-acid ethanolamides, glycerol esters or arachidonoyl glycerol ethers. The endocannabinoid ligands, 2-arachidonogylcerol (2-AG) and anandamide/ Narachidonylethanolamine (AEA), exert their effects through the cannabinoid receptors, with concentrations of 2-AG in the brain approximately 170 times higher than AEA (Stella & Piomelli, 1997). AEA and 2-AG have high and low-to-moderate affinity, respectively, for CB₁ receptors. AEA is thought to be a partial agonist for CB₁ (Steffens, 2005) and a weak partial agonist at CB_2 whereas 2-AG is a CB_1/CB_2 full agonist (Gonsiorek & Fan, 2000; Savinainen, 2001). Noleoylethanolamine (OEA) and N-palmitoylethanolamine (PEA) are structurally-related N-acylethanolamines (NAEs), often called endocannabinoid-like compounds, and while they do not have affinity for CB1 or CB2, they can modulate endocannabinoid signalling indirectly via substrate competition at fatty acid amide hydrolase, a key degradatory enzyme for AEA (Cravatt et al., 1996).

Synthetic cannabinoids, many of which are cannabinoid receptor agonists, have been developed and investigated as potential therapeutic agents for over 50 years. Synthetic drugs based on THC, such as nabilone (Cesamet®) and dronabinol (Marinol®), have also been FDA-approved and are used clinically (including off-label) for the treatment of conditions like chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting, chronic pain conditions, multiple sclerosis, palliative care, and glaucoma (Gaisey, 2021; Harrison & Simpson, 2021; Krcevski-Skvarc & Häuser, 2018).

Both THC and CBD are highly lipophilic and readily cross the bloodbrain barrier. THC's bioavailability is 20% and 6% when inhaled or administered orally, respectively. Inhaled THC peaks in plasma after 3–10 min, while oral THC is more variable and unpredictable in terms of the absorption with plasma concentrations peaking after 1–8 h (McGilveray, 2005). CBD's bioavailability after smoking is about 31% and with little published data on the bioavailability after oral administration, it is estimated to be approximately 6% (Millar & O'Sullivan, 2018; Perucca & Bialer, 2020). Similar to THC, nabilone and dronabinol undergo extensive distribution and first-pass hepatic metabolism. However, they are well absorbed and the pharmacokinetics, although variable, appear to be linear (Oh, Khurana, & Vetticaden, 2017; Rubin, Warrick, Sullivan, & Obermeyer, 1977).

Cannabinoid-induced antinociception is likely mediated in both the CNS and in the periphery. Cannabinoids modulate proalgesic and proinflammatory factors released by peripheral cells, therefore, peripherally restricted cannabinoids can reduce the production of these factors, mostly via CB₂. Moreover, peripheral CB₂ activation has been shown to stimulate the release of endogenous opioids, resulting in reduced nociceptive behaviour (Ibrahim et al., 2005).

3.3. Endocannabinoid enzymes

Endocannabinoid signalling is rather unique due to the fact endocannabinoids are lipid-based neuromodulators and synthesised on demand in the plasma membrane, unlike classical neurotransmitters which are stored in synaptic vesicles. Another noteworthy feature of endocannabinoid signalling is that endocannabinoids act in a retrograde manner to transiently inhibit neuronal firing and presynaptic neuro-transmitter release through activation of presynaptic CB₁ receptors (Ohno-Shosaku & Kano, 2001).

There are a number of pathways suggested to contribute to the synthesis of AEA, PEA, and OEA from their precursor, *N*-acyl phosphatidyl ethanolamine (NAPE). The most widely studied biosynthetic pathway involves NAPE-phospholipase D catalysing the cleavage of membrane NAPEs, N-arachidonoyl phosphatidyl ethanolamine, N-oleoyl phosphatidyl ethanolamine or N-palmitoyl phosphatidyl ethanolamine, to generate AEA, OEA and PEA, respectively (Sagar, Okine, Wong, & Chapman, 2009). AEA and related NAEs are primarily catabolised by FAAH through the hydrolytic cleavage of the amide bond to form arachidonic acid and ethanolamine.

A number of biosynthetic pathways have also been suggested for the synthesis of 2-AG, of which, the phosphatidylinositol-phospholipase C and diacylglycerol (DAG) pathway is the best described. Briefly, arachidonate-containing inositol membrane phosphatidylinositols are hydrolysed by phospholipase C to generate 1, 2- DAG which is hydrolysed by DAG-lipase (DAGL) to 2-AG. Two DAG lipases (DAGL α and DAGLB) catalyse the hydrolysis of DAG to bioactive 2-AG. Metabolism of 2-AG occurs by intracellular enzymatic degradation by monoaglycerol lipase (MGL) to generate arachidonic acid and glycerol (Dinh, Leslie, Katona, & Piomelli, 2002). While MGL is the main enzyme that hydrolyses 2-AG, three other serine hydrolases have also shown to catabolise 2-AG, including; FAAH, serine hydrolase α - β -hydrolase domain 6 (ABHD6) and serine hydrolase α - β -hydrolase domain (ABHD12) (Blankman, 2007). These enzymes also break down 2-AG to produce arachidonic acid and glycerol have an important function as rate-limiting enzymes in the production of free arachidonic acid.

4. Animal models of FM

Fibromyalgia is a differentiated pain syndrome as it is diagnosed by symptoms and not by pathological features. There is no single animal model of FM that encompasses all of the clinical manifestations. The lack of a well-established animal model for FM hampers investigation of the underlying aetiology and pathology of FM and the development of novel treatments. Despite the presence of soft tissue pain affecting the muscles, ligaments, and tendons, FM itself is not associated with evidence of tissue inflammation or damage, which represents a challenge when modelling the disease. Certain considerations must be employed when deciding on what model to use for such a heterogeneous condition and these will be discussed in this section.

Several animal models of FM have been established in an effort to better characterise and understand the mechanisms that underpin this chronic disease. Animal models of FM can be induced in a variety of ways, including stress-induced hyperalgesia (SIH) models, repeated muscle insult models and the biogenic amine depletion model, reserpine-induced myalgia. All of the models for FM produce the characteristic chronic widespread musculoskeletal pain, the cardinal symptom reported in the clinic and used for diagnosis.

4.1. Stress-induced hyperalgesia models (SIH)

It is well established that stress exacerbates existing pain associated with chronic pain disorders and that stress and anxiety are frequently found co-morbid with FM (Pérez, Medina, Ramírez, Monsalve, & Osorio, 2020). Animal models analogous to the clinical condition should ideally simulate the development of these symptoms. It is thought that animal models of SIH are suitable for modelling FM, particularly those devoid of a surgical or chemical intervention for model induction. SIH models range from physically or psychologically stress-inducing or a combination of both. SIH models have been comprehensively reviewed (Brum, Becker, & Fialho, 2021; Jennings, 2014; Nagakura, 2015; Olango & Finn, 2014). Therefore, for the purpose of this article these are summarised briefly.

4.2. Cold stress

Originally termed the "specific alternation rhythm of temperature" model, this well-known FM model is more commonly referred to now as the intermittent cold stress or repeated cold stress model. The intermittent cold stress-induced experimental FM model has already been established in both mice and rats in numerous studies, with few protocol deviations between species and strains of rodents (Fujisawa, Naiki, Masuko, & Suematsu, 2008; Kawanishi, Tamura, & Ono, 1997; Nasu & Mizumura, 2010; Nishiyori & Ueda, 2008; Ohara & Namimatsu, 1991; Wakatsuki, Uchimura, & Mizumura, 2021). This model involves alternating between room temperature (24 °C) and a colder temperature $(-3 \degree C \text{ or } 4 \degree C)$ for 5–7 days and has demonstrated the ability to induce mechanical hypersensitivity as evident by decreased nociceptive thresholds in von Frey and Randall-Selitto tests (Nasu & Mizumura, 2010; Wakatsuki et al., 2021). In another study, intermittent cold stress induced thermal hypersensitivity but had no effect on anxiety or depressive-like behaviours in the elevated plus maze or tail suspension test. Treatment with a single intrathecal injection of antidepressants (milnacipran, amitriptyline, mianserin or paroxetine) had an acute analgesic effect on intermittent cold stress-induced thermal hypersensitivity at post-stress day 1. Moreover, following repeated daily antidepressant treatments during post-stress days 1-5, the reduction in thermal pain threshold was gradually reversed, an effect that was maintained for at least 7 days after the final treatment. This compliments the clinical data for the efficacy of antidepressants on reducing FM-associated pain (Üceyler, Häuser, & Sommer, 2008).

4.3. Swim stress

Quintero and Avila (2000) first provided evidence that repeated forced swim stress could induce thermal hyperalgesia. The forced swim stress paradigm involves placing rats in a cylinder (30cmx50cm, diameter x height) filled with water to a height of 20 cm (water temperature 24–26 °C), for 10 min on the initial exposure and for 20 min on the two subsequent days. Hyperalgesia to thermal and chemical stimuli were still present 8 and 9 days after the last swim session, respectively. The forced swim stress model has also been shown to induce anxiety-like behaviour, a common comorbidity associated with FM (Nazeri & Pourzare, 2017). An important feature of this model is that it responds to some of the classic pharmacological treatments used clinically for patients with FM, including, tricyclic antidepressants, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and the precursor to serotonin, tryptophan (Quintero & Avila, 2000).

4.4. Sound stress

The sound stress paradigm involves exposing rats to sound stress over 4 days whereby, they are placed 3 per cage and the cage placed 25 cm from a speaker emitting 4 pure tones (5, 11, 15 and 19 kHz) of 5 or 10 s duration. The tones' amplitudes vary through time independently from 20 to 110 dB sound pressure level at random times each minute, lasting 5 or 10 s. Animals are exposed to the sound stressor on days 1, 3, and 4. This model has been found to exhibit musculoskeletal and cutaneous mechanical hyperalgesia and increased anxietyrelated behaviour in the elevated plus maze (Dina & Green, 2011; Khasar, 2009).

4.5. Restraint/ immobilisation stress

The chronic restraint stress paradigm is also a possible model for FM. The experimental protocol involves placing the animal in a well ventilated tube or cage, which restricts movement (Gamaro, Denardin, Ely, & Dalmaz, 1998). Thermal hyperalgesia has been reported in this model in the tail flick test (da Silva Torres et al., 2003; Gamaro et al., 1998). This paradigm also induces long-lasting mechanical allodynia-like behaviour to von Frey, but not Randall–Selitto test, and thermal allodynia-like behaviour (see Table 1). It has also been shown to exacerbate formalin-evoked nociceptive behaviour (Bardin & Newman-Tancredi, 2009). Moreover, visceral hypersensitivity has been reported in this model, which is an important feature, given the comorbidity of FM and irritable bowel syndrome(Shen, Qian, & Hou, 2010).

4.6. Repeated muscle insult models

There are currently two models of FM that fall under the category of repeated muscle insult models: Acid saline-induced pain (Sluka & Moore, 2001) and fatigue-enhanced muscle pain (Gregory, 2013). Sluka and Moore (2001) developed and characterised an animal model of persistent mechanical hyperalgesia induced by repeated intramuscular injections of low pH saline. For this paradigm to produce longlasting hyperalgesia, rats were anesthetized briefly and one gastrocnemius muscle was injected with 100 µl of pH 4.0 preservative-free sterile saline followed by a second injection into the same muscle 2 or 5 days later. This repeated injection of low pH saline into the gastrocnemius muscle produces a long-lasting, widespread mechanical hyperalgesia in the absence of motor deficits or any significant tissue damage (Sluka & Moore, 2001). Interestingly, Sluka and Moore (2001) and colleagues were the first to suggest a possible central nervous system mechanism underpinning the sustained hyperalgesia in this model. Further to this, widespread mechanical hyperalgesia was demonstrated in mice in the acid saline-induced pain model (Sluka & Breese, 2003).

The fatigue-enhanced muscle pain model combined localised muscle fatigue with a subthreshold muscle insult for induction of the model (Gregory, 2013). Muscle fatigue was induced by electrical stimulation through needle electrodes implanted in the gastrocnemius muscle followed by 2 x pH 5.0 saline intramuscular injections. It is noteworthy that neither localised muscle fatigue nor the subthreshold muscle insult produced muscle hyperalgesia when given alone. This contrasts with what was previously found by Sluka and Moore (2001), where hyperalgesia was apparent when injected with acidified saline (pH 4.0) 2 and 5 days apart. This difference highlights the importance of using an appropriate pH value (pH 4.0 vs pH 5.0), however, another reason for this observed difference could be the use of different rodent species. The induction and development of hyperalgesia in this model were also found to occur in a sex-dependant manner, with muscle hyperalgesia lasting significantly longer in female mice compared to males (Gregory, 2013).

4.7. Reserpine-induced myalgia (RIM)

The reserpine-induced myalgia (RIM) model, also known as the biogenic amine depletion model, was first developed by Nagakura (2009) and is currently the most recent and promising of animal models for FM. Induction of the RIM model involves daily subcutaneous administration of reserpine at 1 mg/kg for three consecutive days. This significantly reduced brain amine concentrations in all the tissues measured (p < 0.001) and demonstrated that the model induced a significant decrease in muscle pressure threshold as evident using Randall–Selitto test and tactile allodynia-related behaviour using von Frey testing. These pain-related behavioural changes associated with the model were long-lasting in both male and female Sprague–Dawley rats.

Numerous studies using the RIM model have reported increased immobility times in the forced swimming test and tail suspension test and decreased swimming times in the forced swimming test, indicative of depressive-like behaviour in both rats and mice (Kaur, Singh, & Bhatti, 2019; Nagakura, 2009; Xu, Shao, Wang, & Li, 2013). The RIM animals also displayed increased anxiety-like behaviour as revealed by

Table 1

Summary of animal models used in the literature to model FM.

References	Animal Model	Species, Sex and Strain	Pain Test	Pain-related behaviour	FM comorbidities	Drugs tested	Drug effects
					assessed		
(Fujisawa et al., 2008)	SIH models Intermittent Cold Stress	Male Wister rats	Randall-Selitto	Mechanical Hyperalgesia	n/a	n/a	n/a
(Nasu & Mizumura, 2010)		Male Sprague- Dawley rats	von Frey Randall–Selitto	Mechanical hyperalgesia	n/a	n/a	n/a
(Nishiyori et al., 2011)		Male C57BL/6J mice	Paw withdrawal threshold (thermal and mechanical)	Mechanical allodynia-related behaviour and thermal hyperalgesia	Elevated plus maze and tail-suspension test (no change)	Intrathecal antidepressants administration: milnacipran, amitriptyline, mianserin or paroxetine	Acute antinociceptive effect on thermal hyperalgesia at post-stress day 1 in a dose-dependent manner. Attenuated mechanical allodynia 9 days after drug treatment
			von Frey			n/a	n/a
(Wakatsuki et al., 2021)		Male Sprague-	Cold and heat stimulation	Mechanical Hyperalgesia	n/a		
(Quintero & Avila, 2000)	Forced Swim Stress	Dawley Fats Male Sprague- Dawley rats	Hot plate and formalin test	Thermal and inflammatory hyperalgesia	n/a	Clomipramine, fluoxetine, or tryptophan	Prevented the development of chemical and thermal hyperalgesia
(Nazeri & Pourzare, 2017)		Male Wistar rats	Eye wiping test and orofacial formalin test	Hyperalgesia	↑ Anxiety-related behaviour in the elevated plus maze	n/a	n/a
(Lomazzo et al., 2015)	Chronic unpredictable stress (with multiple injections of nerve growth factor	Male C57BL/6J mice	Hot plate test and Von Frey	Chronic widespread hypersensitivity	↑ Anxiety-related behaviour in the elevated plus maze	URB597 and JZL184	URB597 reversed development of mechanical hypersensitivity and ↓ anxiety-related behaviour
(Khasar, 2009)	Sound Stress	Male Sprague- Dawley rats	Paw withdrawal threshold	Enhanced inflammatory pain-like behaviour	↑ Anxiety-related behaviour in the elevated plus maze	n/a	n/a
(Gamaro et al., 1998)	Chronic Restraint Stress	Male and female Wistar rats	Tail flick	Thermal hyperalgesia	n/a	n/a	n/a
(Torres et al., 2003)	Stress	Male Wistar rats	Tail flick	Thermal hyperalgesia	n/a	Morphine	↓ Morphine response in stressed rats but not control
(Bardin & Newman-Tancredi, 2009)		Male Sprague–Dawley rats	von Frey, Randall–Selitto and tail immersion test, acetone drop	Mechanical (von Frey) and thermal (cold – acetone drop test) allodynia-related behaviour, and	n/a	n/a	n/a
			test, formalin test	inflammatory hyperalgesia			
(Shen et al., 2010)		Male Sprague–Dawley rats	Colorectal distension	Visceral hyperalgesia	n/a	CB1 receptor agonist or antagonist	Agonist↓ Visceromotor Reflex and antagonist↑ reflex
(Scheich et al., 2017)		Male CD1 mice	Dynamic plantar aesthesiometry, Cold tolerance test, hotplate test	Mechanical and cold hypersensitivity	No effect on open-field and tail suspension test ↑ light preference in the light–dark box test	n/a	n/a
(Sluka & Moore, 2001)	Repeated muscle insult models Acid-Saline	Male Sprague–Dawley rats	Paw withdrawal threshold to radiant heat and von Frey	Mechanical hypersensitivity	n/a	n/a	n/a

Table 1 (continued)

References	Animal Model	Species, Sex and Strain	Pain Test	Pain-related behaviour	FM comorbidities assessed	Drugs tested	Drug effects
(Da Silva et al., 2010)		Male Sprague-Dawley rats	von Frey and muscle withdrawal threshold on the gastrocnemius muscle	Cutaneous and muscle hypersensitivity	n/a	MK-801 (non-competitive NMDA receptor antagonist) intracerebral into the RVM	Reversed hypersensitivity
(Gregory, 2013)	Fatigue-enhanced muscle pain	Male and female C57BL6/J mice	Muscle withdrawal threshold on the gastrocnemius muscle	Mechanical hyperalgesia	n/a	n/a	n/a
	Biogenic-amine						
(Nagakura, 2009)	Reserpine-induced myalgia	Male and female Sprague–Dawley rats	von Frey and muscle pressure threshold	Decreased muscle pressure threshold and tactile allodynia-related behaviour	↑ Immobility in the forced swim test	n/a	n/a
(Xu et al., 2013)		Male ICR mice	Thermal tail withdrawal and von Frey	Thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia-related behaviour	↑ Immobility in the forced swim test and tail suspension test	Ferulic acid	↑ pain threshold and ameliorates depression-like behaviours
(Nagakura et al., 2019)		Male Sprague–Dawley rats	von Frey and rat grimace scale	mechanical hypersensitivity and ↑ spontaneous pain-associated facial expression	n/a	Gabapentin, duloxetine, diclofenac, buprenorphine and diazepam	Gabapentin and duloxetine ↑ paw withdrawal threshold to von Frey and ↓ rat grimace scale

increased time spent in closed arm of the elevated plus maze (Kaur et al., 2019). Furthermore, cognitive deficits were also reported in the Morris water maze and passive avoidance test where RIM animals displayed an increased latency to reach the platforms (Kaur et al., 2019). Recently, Nagakura, Yoshida, Tanei, and Takeda (2019) were the first to apply the rat grimace scale, a facial expression-dependent measure developed for quantifying spontaneous pain, to the RIM model in rats. A significant increase in the rat grimace scale score was reported in the RIM rats. This also appeared to be long-lasting and was sustained for at least 2 weeks.

The ability of the RIM model to elicit not only the cardinal symptomology of FM but also associated comorbidities of depressionand anxiety- related behaviour and cognitive dysfunction, lends credence to the RIM model as one of the most translational models for FM. Furthermore, most studies investigating pain-like behaviour in models of FM focus on evoked pain. However, patients with FM predominantly report spontaneous pain, a measure which has not been evaluated in most models to date, aside from the RIM model.

5. Alternations in the endocannabinoid system in animal models of FM

There is limited published data investigating role of the endocannabinoid system in animal models of FM. One group (Hong, Kemmerer, Evans, & Wiley, 2009; Hong & Wu, 2011) demonstrated a downregulation of CB₁ receptor expression in the dorsal root ganglia in a rat model of water avoidance SIH. Moreover, levels of AEA and TRPV1 receptor mRNA expression were significantly elevated in the dorsal root ganglia. Although water avoidance would pertain more to a model of irritable bowel syndrome, it is relevant to this review, given the manifestation of somatic syndromes and comorbidities associated with FM.

The SIH model of repeated forced swim stress has been found to differentially affect formalin-evoked nociceptive behaviour and the endocannabinoid system in stress normo-responsive (Sprague Dawley) and stress hyper-responsive (Wistar-Kyoto) rats (Jennings, Olango, & Finn, 2016). In fact, 10 days of repeated swim stress increased levels of MGL mRNA expression in the ipsilateral side of the dorsal spinal cord of Sprague Dawley rats, an effect not observed in Wistar-Kyoto rats. Interestingly, in the amygdala, swim stress reduced AEA levels in the contralateral amygdala of Sprague Dawley rats, but not Wistar-Kyoto. Repeated swim stress did not significantly alter the levels of AEA or 2-AG in the spinal cord in either Sprague Dawley or Wistar-Kyoto rats compared with non-stressed, naive controls. This study provides evidence for altered endocannabinoid gene expression in a SIH model relevant to FM.

5.1. Cannabinoid-based drugs in animal models of FM

Few preclinical studies have investigated cannabinoid-based drugs in animal models of FM. Systemic administration of the synthetic CB_1 receptor full agonist, WIN 55,212–2, and the TRPV1 antagonist, capsazepine, prevented visceral hypersensitivity in the water avoidance SIH model (Hong et al., 2009). The mechanisms of action of WIN 55,212–2 were not investigated in this study but it has been reported that WIN 55,212–2 dephosphorylates and desensitises TRPV1.

The therapeutic effects of chronic administration of URB597, JZL184, and a combination of both drugs were investigated in a model of chronic widespread hyperalgesia (Lomazzo, Remmers, Schwitter, & Lutz, 2015). This study combined chronic unpredictable stress and multiple intramuscular nerve growth factor injections, which induced chronic widespread hypersensitivity and anxiety- and depression-related behaviour. Chronic inhibition of FAAH using URB597 (which increases AEA, PEA and OEA levels) reversed the development of mechanical hypersensitivity and decreased anxiety-like behaviour in the elevated plus maze (Lomazzo et al., 2015). Interestingly, administration of JZL184, a MGL inhibitor (will increase 2-AG levels), did not produce long-lasting anti-hypersensitivity effects. In fact, JZL184 appeared to induce anxiogenic effects in the elevated plus maze when used alone, and in combination with URB597 in control animals. Combining URB597 and JZL184 did not offer any additional therapeutic effect. These data

suggest that reductions in AEA, PEA and OEA signalling, which occur following chronic stress, may contribute to the development of hypersensitivity via CB₁ receptor- or PPAR-mediated mechanisms, or a combination of both (Lomazzo et al., 2015).

While the mechanism of action underlying the effects of URB597 was not investigated in this study (Lomazzo et al., 2015), and remains unclear, other studies using neuropathic pain and inflammatory pain models have investigated possible mechanisms using microinjections of CB₁, TRPV1 and PPAR α antagonists prior to a microinjection of URB597 in the insular cortex, an important brain region involved in processing of pain and emotion (Kim & Kim, 2018; Kwilasz, Poklis, & Negus, 2014). Blockade of CB₁ and PPAR α , but not TRPV1, reversed the anti-nociceptive effects of URB597. Antagonism of the CB₁ receptor was more efficacious in attenuating the antinociceptive effects of URB597 compared to PPAR α . These results indicate that CB₁ may be more involved in the antinociceptive mechanism compared to PPAR α in nerve-injured rats. However, mechanisms of URB597 need to be investigated in a model related to FM.

One group, Kiso and Sekizawa (2020), demonstrated that RIM rats had significantly lower muscle pressure threshold compared to the sham controls. Models of neuropathic pain (spinal nerve ligation and chronic constriction injury) were also assessed in this study to evaluate the antinociceptive effect in multiple chronic pain models. Following confirmation of the model induction, a single oral administration of ASP8477 (0.3, 1 and 3 mg/kg), a FAAH inhibitor, or vehicle, were administered to the RIM and neuropathic pain groups. For the RIM group, muscle pressure thresholds were restored by the 1 and 3 mg/kg doses but not 0.3 mg/kg. For the spinal nerve ligation model, 1 and 3 mg/kg significantly improved mechanical allodynia-like behaviour 2 h after administration, an effect that was not observed in the chronic constriction injury model. Interestingly, for the RIM model, the antinociceptive effect of the 3 mg/kg dose was sustained for at least 8 h but less than 24 h. In a study using the spinal nerve ligation model of neuropathic pain, the antinociceptive effect of ASP8477 is completely inhibited by the CB₁ receptor antagonist SR141716A, but not by the CB₂ receptor antagonist, SR144528 (Watabiki & Kiso, 2017). Spinal anti-nociceptive mechanisms of ASP8477 were also investigated in NMDA-, AMPA-, PGE2-, PGF2 α -, and bicuculline-induced allodynia in mice (Kiso & Sekizawa, 2020). ASP8477 significantly improved AMPA-, NMDA-, PGE2-, and PGF2 α -induced tactile allodynia but not bicucullineinduced allodynia.

A noteworthy finding of the aforementioned study was the effect of a single acute oral administration of ASP8477 on acute pain. At doses up to 10 mg/kg there was no effect observed on acute pain, as evident in the hot plate and tail pinch tests. Therefore, attenuation of acute painlike behaviour is not possible with increased basal AEA, PEA and OEA concentrations through FAAH inhibition. These results suggest that ASP8477 may have efficacy against chronic pain but not acute pain. It is possible that CB₁ receptor expression or activation is reduced in the chronic pain models, which may contribute to the increase in painrelated hypersensitivity. Lastly, previous reports of seven-day repeated dosing of ASP8477 in a rat model of capsaicin-induced secondary hyperalgesia did not induce analgesic tolerance, unlike morphine. This is an important finding, given the epidemic with opioid use and the potential for cannabinoid-modulating drugs to be used therapeutically as a longterm alternative for chronic pain conditions.

In a model of visceral hypersensitivity induced by restraint SIH, intraperitoneal injection of ACEA, a CB₁ receptor agonist, abolished chronic stress-enhanced electromyogram to colorectal distension compared with vehicle. Furthermore, intraperitoneal injection of SR141716A, a CB₁ receptor antagonist, exacerbated the chronic stress-induced hypersensitivity compared to the vehicle-treated group (Shen et al., 2010).

In conclusion, the available data on cannabinoid-modulating drugs in animal models of FM provide insight into the therapeutic potential for drugs that enhance CB₁ receptor activation for treatment of FM symptomology.

5.2. Gaps in the literature and limitations

Despite the inherent difficulties in accurately and convincingly modelling FM in laboratory animals, animal models can play a critical role in informing our understanding of the underlying pathophysiology, identification of novel therapeutic targets, and assessment of the efficacy of potential therapies for FM. An important consideration to note is that the majority of studies utilising animal models for FM have only used male rodents (81% of the literature reviewed by Brum et al. (2021)). Moreover, of the studies reviewed in section 5.0–5.1, where cannabinoid-modulating drugs and endocannabinoids were investigated in animal models of FM, only male rodents were included (Häuser et al., 2011; Hong et al., 2009; Jennings et al., 2016; Kiso & Sekizawa, 2020; Lomazzo et al., 2015; Shen et al., 2010). It is wellestablished that there are sex differences in pain processing and inhibition (Mogil, 2012) but there are also distinct sex differences in the endocannabinoid system and the analgesic response to cannabinoids (Blanton & McHann, 2021). The influence of sex is evident from the gender-biased representation of FM and related or comorbid chronic pain disorders such as irritable bowel syndrome and migraine, all of which have a higher incidence in females than in males (Arout & Bastian, 2018; Finocchi, 2014; Kim & Kim, 2018). It is imperative to address the discrepancy in animal studies and models of FM to accurately translate results between preclinical and clinical studies and better understand their potential therapeutic implications for patients with FM. For example, sex differences have been demonstrated in the muscle alterations of male rats submitted to the ICS model of FM which was not observed in female rats (Bonaterra, Oezel, Ocker, Fazio, & Kinscherf, 2016).

Chronic widespread pain is a hallmark of FM, and spontaneous pain is a key characteristic of the pain experienced by patients with FM. Spontaneous pain has been not replicated or measured in many studies. Only recently has spontaneous pain been measured in the RIM model (Nagakura et al., 2019). Its evaluation is an important measure as most other tests are based only on reflex responses that do not reflect spontaneous pain observed in FM patients.

Finally, it is also extremely important that experimental FM models respond to the drugs used clinically to manage symptoms of FM (e.g., serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors). Without this, it is difficult to validate a model as truly representative of the disease.

6. Alterations in the endocannabinoid system in patients with FM

6.1. Genetics

Genome-wide expression profiling of patients with FM did not report any alterations within the endocannabinoid system (Jones et al., 2016). One study (Smith, Fillingim, Gracely, Zaykin, & John, 2012) found that a CNR1 SNP occurred in a cohort of patients with FM, but a replication study failed to reach significance. The CNR1 SNP, rs6454674, is located on chromosome 6 and is an intronic variant (T > G) encoding the CB₁ cannabinoid receptor with many suggested associations including addiction (Zuo, Luo, & Gelernter, 2007), obesity (Benzinou et al., 2008), post-traumatic stress disorder and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (Lu, Järvelin, Loo, McGough, & Peltonen, 2008) but overall its clinical significance remains unclear. In a recent genotyping study, there was no reported statistical difference or association in CNR1 or related SNP expression between patients with FM and respective controls (Gerra et al., 2021). However, when the FM group were stratified into a subgroup characterised by clinical phenotypes including depression and sleep impairment, it was revealed that patients with FM developing or with depression displayed a strong association with the CNR1 SNP, rs6454674, compared with FM patients without depression. However, the functional consequence of this SNP on function of the CB₁ receptor is yet to be determined. Revisiting the findings from Smith et al. (2012), it could be suggested that stratifying the participants in a similar way to Gerra et al. (2021) and colleagues, may reveal a stronger and replicable association with the *CNR1* SNP, rs6454674. Interestingly, variants within the *CNR1* locus have been associated with other chronic conditions that are frequently found comorbid with FM, including migraine (Juhasz et al., 2009; DSmith, Foss, & McKernan, 2017), irritable bowel syndrome (Jiang, 2014; Park, Cho, Kim, & Chung, 2011), and posttraumatic stress disorder (Korem, Xu, & Pietrzak, 2021; Mota, Lowe, Uddin, & Wildman, 2015).

6.2. Endocannabinoid levels

Alterations in circulating endocannabinoids and related NAEs in patients with FM have also been reported (Kaufmann et al., 2008; Stensson et al., 2020; Stensson, Ghafouri, & Ghafouri, 2017). Kaufmann et al. (2008) determined plasma levels of catecholamines, cortisol and anandamide in 22 patients with primary FM and 22 ageand sex-matched healthy controls (17 female and 5 male). Inclusion criteria for all patients who participated in this 1-year-study was to meet the 1990 diagnostic criteria by the ACR for FM. Some of the exclusion criteria included inflammatory conditions, diabetes mellitus, endocrinologic disorders, muscle or joint diseases, major depressive disorder, addiction, general anxiety disorder and psychosis. Plasma concentrations of AEA and cortisol were significantly higher in patients with FM compared to healthy controls. Plasma AEA levels did not correlate with Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ), visual analogue scales (VAS) and Post-Traumatic Stress Symptom 10-Questionnaire scores or disease duration. No other endocannabinoid or NAE levels were measured in this study. Given the presence of comorbid conditions such as anxiety and depression in patients with FM, the exclusion of patients with such conditions could confound the results and not appropriately capture the total disease state.

Further to the initial characterisation of plasma endocannabinoids in patients with FM, Stensson et al. (2017) investigated a number of NAEs and cytokines in 17 women with chronic widespread pain and 21 healthy controls. Chronic widespread pain is a hallmark pain symptom associated with FM. Plasma levels of OEA and PEA were significantly higher in patients with chronic widespread pain compared to healthy controls. No alterations in the levels of cytokines were observed and no correlation between levels of lipids and cytokines were found. Further to this, OEA, PEA, *N*-stearoylethanolamine (SEA), and 2- AG have also been reported to be significantly higher in patients with FM compared with controls (Stensson et al., 2018). However, when statistically controlling for body mass index and age, significance only remained for OEA and SEA.

The elevated circulating levels of these lipids suggests that there could be low-grade inflammation in FM, as SEA has been shown to have anti-inflammatory activity (Dalle Carbonare et al., 2008). Moreover, OEA has been shown to produce antinociceptive effects in animal models of visceral and inflammatory pain, independent of PPAR- α receptor activation (Suardíaz, Goicoechea, & de Fonseca, 2007).

In summary, the limited available data on circulating levels of endocannabinoids in patients with FM reveal elevated levels of AEA and other related ethanolamines. This is suggestive of a possible compensatory mechanism or that the circulating levels of these lipids have a role in the complex pathophysiology of FM.

6.3. Effects of cannabinoids on FM symptomology

Few clinical trials have investigated the effects of cannabis, cannabis extracts, synthetic cannabinoids, and endocannabinoid-modulating drugs for the treatment of FM. In the last 20 years, 15 published research articles have investigated the use of cannabis (including extracts, THC, and CBD, synthetic- and phyto-cannabinoids) for FM symptoms, with the majority of these being observational studies. Due to the disparity and inconsistency in methodology and study design, there is limited evidence for effectiveness, tolerability, and safety. Nevertheless,

prospectively collected data of FM patients using a variety of cannabis-based medicinal products to treat their condition (primary and secondary) show promising results (Sagy, 2019). The available clinical trial literature is summarised in Table 2.

6.4. Randomised-controlled trials of whole plant cannabis

In a randomised placebo-controlled 4-way crossover trial the analgesic effects of inhaled pharmaceutical-grade cannabis in 20 patients with FM were investigated (van de Donk & Kowal, 2019). 25 participants were initially recruited to participate with 5 patients ending their participation after their first study visit for unknown reasons (1), AEs such as dizziness and nausea (3), and fear of needles (1). Primary outcome measures were assessed as relief of experimental pressure pain, electrical pain, and spontaneous pain. Secondary outcome measures were subjective and psychotropic effects. All participants rated their FM pain on an 11-point VAS at baseline and at 1, 2, and 3 h after cannabis inhalation. Four different cannabis varieties were tested, with detailed knowledge of their THC and CBD content: Bedrocan® (22.4mg THC, <1-mg CBD), Bediol® (13.4-mg THC, 17.8-mg CBD) Bedrolite® (18.4-mg CBD, <1-mg THC), and a placebo variety without any THC or CBD. None of the treatments had an effect greater than placebo on spontaneous or electrical pain responses. Cannabis varieties containing high THC concentrations, Bedrocan® and Bediol®, did significantly increase pressure pain threshold compared to the placebo (P < 0.01). Cannabis with high CBD, Bedrolite®, did not display any analgesic activity in any of the pain tests investigated in this study. Finally, CBD increased plasma concentrations of THC but had an antagonistic effect on analgesia when combined with THC. All of the AEs in this study were reported as mild and include, coughing during inhalation (66%), sore throat and bad taste (33%) nausea without vomiting (33%). This study did not satisfy its primary outcome measures; a contributing factor could be the duration of the study, whereby a single acute administration of the cannabis product was not enough to produce an analgesic effect for spontaneous pain associated with FM. Studies that titrate the dose of cannabis over a number of weeks could be more effective. Also, tolerability may pose an additional challenge for the dosage and routes of administration used given the incidence of drop out from the study was 12% due to AEs.

6.5. Observational studies

A cross-sectional survey conducted by Fiz, Durán, Capellà, Carbonell, & Farré, (2011) recruited 56 patients with FM (28 non-cannabis users and 28 cannabis-users). There were varying routes of cannabinoid administration (smoking (54%), oral (46%) and combined (43%)), amount and frequency used and duration of life-long cannabis use. Due to different sources of cannabis, and the nature of the study, it should be noted that the THC and CBD concentration that each participant consumed varied. In this study patients used cannabis to alleviate pain and for almost all the symptoms associated with FM. No FM patients in this study reported worsening of symptoms following cannabis use. Most of the cannabis used was sourced by the patients from a nonregulated environment, rather than it being prescribed and dispensed by a physician. Almost 30% of the cannabis users had been using it recreationally prior to use for symptom management of FM. Cannabis significantly relieved pain and stiffness and improved relaxation, somnolence, and perception of well-being, evaluated by VAS before and 2 h after self-administration. The 36-item Short Form Health Survey (SF-36), FIQ and Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) were used to assess quality of life. The mental health component summary score of the SF-36 was significantly higher in the cannabis group compared to the non-cannabis users. The physical component summary scores of the SF-36, FIQ and PSQI were not significantly different between cannabis and non-cannabis smokers. This is an interesting finding, given the statistically significant improvements observed pre vs post cannabis self-administration, suggesting cannabis was having primarily a

Table 2 Summary of publ Health Survey Qu pairment, ¹⁰ Shorl Scale (SAPS), ¹⁶ TI ²¹ Patient Global /	ished literature on the estionnaire (SF-36), ⁵ P Form 12 Health Survey he Functional Assessme ussessment (PtGA) Of P	efficacy of cannabi ain Disability Index Questionnaire (SF nt of Chronic Illnes lealth Status, ²² Phy	noids for treatment ((PDI), ⁶ Fibromyal -12), ¹¹ Oswestry Di ss Therapy (FACIT)- ssician Global Asses	t of FM symptoms in chrono Igia Impact Questionnaire (n isability Index (ODI), ¹² Globa -Fatigue Scale, ¹⁷ The Zung Se ssment (PCA).	logical order. ¹ Numeric evised) (FlQ or revised il Impression Of Change elf-Rating Depression S	Rating Scale (NR FIQ), ⁷ Visual Anal (PGIC) Scale, ¹³ Q :ale (ZSR-D), ¹⁸ TJ	S), ² Multidimensional Pain I logue Scale (VAS), ⁸ Hospital uality of Life Questionnaire (ie Zung Self-Rating Anxiety)	Inventory (MPI), ³ Pittsbu I Anxiety and Depression QOL), ¹⁴ Fibronnyalgia Ass Scale (ZSR-A), ¹³ Adverse	rrgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQ 1 Scale (HADS), ⁹ Pain Related sessment Status (FAS), ¹⁵ Self- effects (AEs), ²⁰ Widespread), ⁴ Short Form 36 Duality of Life Im- ddministered Pain Pain Index (WPI),
Reference	Type of Study	Duration of Study	Number of participants	Cannabinoid investigated	Primary Outcome	Secondary Outcome	Results	Most common AEs	Drop out % in treatment group	FM Diagnosis Criteria
(Schley et al., 2006)	Observational (Prospective)	3 months	9 (Sex not	8-9-THC/Dronabinol	- Daily pain ratings using NRS ¹ (1–10)	MPI ² PSQI ³	- No effect on allodynia and hyperalgesia	Sedation, daze, fatigue,	55.6% AEs ¹⁹	ACR 1990
			specified)	2.5-15 mg/day (2.5 mg increase each week)	- Experimentally induced pain -Axon reflex flare	SF-36 ⁴ PDI ⁵ FIQ ⁶	- Attenuated electrically induced pain $(p < 0.05)$ at 10-15 mg/day - Daily recorded pain scores were significantly	and tiredness (continuous)		
(Skrabek et al. 2008)	Randomised placebo-controlled	10 weeks	40 (Sex not	Nabilone	- Pain intensity at 2 and 4 week	- Number of tender points	reduced (<i>p</i> < 0.01) VAS, FIQ and anxiety scores were significantly	Drowsiness, Drv mouth	5% AEs	ACR 1990
	trial		specified)	0.5 mg/day for 1 week and doubled every week after	follow-up using VAS ⁷	- Average tender point pain - FIQ ⁶	lower after 4 weeks of treatment	Vertigo		
(Weber et al., 2009)	Observational	7 months	172 (62% female)	Dronabinol	Pain intensity, Max pain and min	1	Pain intensity improved (P < 0.001)	Tiredness Dizziness	~25% Lack of effect of total group – data not reported	ACR 1990
			Complete data for 124 patients (32 of whom are FM patients)	7.5 mg/day	pain using NRS ¹			Increased appetite	for FM only	
(Ware,	randomised,	10 weeks	29 2000 famala)	Nabilone 0.5 mg or	Improved:	- Pain	- Nabilone was superior	Dizziness	%0	Not specified
Frizcharles, Joseph, & Shir, 2010)	active-control, equivalency clinical trial using a 2-period crossover design		(90% remare)	amitripriyine 10 mg; tne dose was doubled every week	- Quanry of sleep - Self-reported insomnia	- Mood - Quality of - Global satisfaction with the treatment - Adverse effects	to amutriprytine at improving sleep and marginally better at improving restlessness - No effects on pain, mood or quality of life	Nausea Dry mouth		
(Fiz, Durán, Capellà,	Observational (cross-sectional	1 day	28	Arbitrary values "1–2 cigarettes when	 Perceived relief using 5 point Likert 	PSQI ³ SF-36 ⁴	All symptoms assessed by VAS significantly	Somnolence Dry mouth Sedation	n/a	ACR 1990
Carbonell, & Farré, 2011)	survey)	(Data from baseline and 2 h after self-	(93% female)	smoking and 1 spoonful eating"	scale - Perceived benefits on:	ПQ ⁶	improved	Dizziness High Tachycardia Conjunctival irritation		
		administration)		əmokıng (34%) Ural (46%) Combined (43%)	Pain, sumess, relaxation, drowsiness, well-being using VAS ⁷			Hypotension		
(Habib & Artul, 2018)	Observational (Retrospective)	2 months	26 (73% female)	26 ± 8.2 g/ month 26 ± 8.2 g/ month Smoked only 58% Vaporized only 23% Vaporized + smoked 14% Oral drons + smoked 8%	Revised FIQ ⁶	n/a	All aspects of the revised FIQ significantly improved	Dry mouth Red eyes Hunger	л/а	ACR 2010
(Habib & Artul, 2018)	Observational (Retrospective)	n/a	383 (85% female)	Cannabis 31.4 ± 16.3 g/month	Pain relief Quality of sleep Denression	n/a	Significantly improved primary outcomes	Data not shown - eye or throat irritation was the only AFs	n/a	ACR 2010

	Not specified		ACR 2010	ACR 2010		ACR 2010
	19% from SAT due to AEs		17% AEs	12% AEs 8% other		5.9% AEs 18.6% other
listed	SAT: Constipation (48%) Loss of appetite (26%) Zombie-like feeling (16%) Haemorrhoids (13%) Medicinal Cannabis: Red eyes (90%) Increased appetite (16%) Sore throat (10%)		Dizziness Dry mouth Nausea Hyperactivity	Drug high Dizziness Nausea	During inhalation: sore throat, bad taste, coughing	Dizziness Nausea Palpitations
	Significant improvement in all primary outcome measures at 3 months after initiation of cannabis treatment and the improvement was maintained at 6 months		Treatment success was achieved in patients 81.1% Sleep problems improved in 73.4% and disappeared in 13.2% Depression-related symptoms 80.8% QOL to be	good or very good in 61.9% - No effect greater than placebo on spontaneous or electrical pain	responses Compared to placebo: - Bediol displayed a 30% decrease in pain scores - Cannabis varieties increased pressure pain threshold	A significant improvement in: PSQI and revised FIQ In 44% and 33% of patients, respectively. 50% showed a moderate improvement in ZSR-D and
	Analgesic drug use		Pain intensity using NRS QOL ¹³ Perception of the general effect of cannabis using Likert scale	Subjective and psychotropic	effects: - Bowdle questionnaire - Bond and Lader questionnaire	р/ц
Anxiety Daily activity	Pain intensity using VAS ⁷ ODI ¹¹ Revised FIQ ⁶ PGIC ¹² SF-12 ¹⁰ Modified Schober test		Treatment response (defined as at least moderate or significant improvement in a patient's condition at six months follow-up without the	cessation of treatment or serious AES ¹⁹) - experimental pressure pain - electrical pain	- spontaneous pain	Revised FIQ ⁶ FAS ¹⁴ SAPS ¹⁵ FACIT ¹⁶ FACIT ¹⁶ PSQl ³ ZSR-A ¹⁸ ZSR-A ¹⁸
Smoking with cigarette 63% Smoking pure cannabis 17% Oil (sublingual) 5% Vaporizing 15%	First 3 months of SAT ²⁴ . 2 × 5 mg/day of oxycodone hydrochloride (equivalent to 4.5 mg oxycodone and 2.5 mg naloxone hydrochloride) and duloxetine 30 mg/day Second 3 months: Cannabis 20 g/month	Last 3 months: Option to increase to 30 g/month Cannabis administrated via smoking or	va surouting or vaporization 20 gor less of cannabis per month	4 varieties of cannabis: Bedrocan®: 22.4 mg THC/>1 mg CBD	Bediol@: 13.4 mg THC /17.8 mg CBD. Bedrolite@: <1 mg THC / 18.4 mg CBD. Placebo One inhalation.	Oil-diluted cannabis extracts: Bedrocan: 22% THC, <1% CBD Bediol: 6.3% THC, %% CBD
	31 (90% female)		367 (82% female) 211 completed	25 (All female)		102 (91% female)
	9 months		6 months	~8 weeks (Participants	visited every 2 weeks for a one dose treatment)	6 months
	Observational (Cross over)		Observational	Randomised Placebo-Controlled 4-Way Crossover	Trial	Observational (Prospective)
	(Yassin, Oron, & Robinson, 2019)		(Sagy, 2019)	(van de Donk & Kowal, 2019)		(Giorgi et al., 2020)

(continued on next page)

Table 2 (continue	(p;									
Reference	Type of Study	Duration of Study	Number of participants	Cannabinoid investigated	Primary Outcome	Secondary Outcome	Results	Most common AEs	Drop out % in treatment group	FM Diagnosis Criteria
(Chaves, Bittencourt, & Pelegrini, 2020)	Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Clinical Trial	8 weeks	17 (All female)	Cannabis: (White Widow variety - 48:1 THC:CBD) or Placebo 1 drop/day sublingually	ЯQ ⁶	л/а	ZSR-A Cannabis group presented a significant decrease in FlQ score in comparison with the placebo group the cannabis groups baseline score	Somnolence Dizziness Dry Mouth	80 0	ACR 2010
(Mazza, 2021)	Observational (Retrospective)	12 months	38 (95% female)	Cannabis: Starting dose of the milled flowers in the sachet was 50 or 100 mg twice per day Olive oil extract, gradually increase their dosage at small intervals, i.e., a single oil drop every 3–4 days until the therapeutic effect Various doses –	Pain relief - measured using a NRS ¹	AEs ¹⁹ ODI ¹¹ HADS ⁸ WPl ²⁰ SyS ²¹	30, 18, and 12 patients continued therapy for 1, 3, and 12 months, respectively. Significant improvements were observed in: - NRS, ODI, WPI, and Severity Score at 1 month - NRS, ODI, and WPI at 3 months - NRS, ODI, and Severity Score at 12 months	Mental confusion Dizziness Nausea Restlessness/irritation	14.3% AEs	ACR 2010
(Fitzcharles et al., 2021)	Observational	2 months	117 (91.5% female) Never used medicinal cannabis: 89	dose participant Cannabis: Inhaled cannabis 0.5 to 2 g/day	Disease assessment: - Pain in the last 7 days using VAS ⁷ - PtGA ²¹ - PGA ²²	п/а	No differences in pain, PrGA or PGA between patients that used medicinal cannabis and those that didn't	Not listed	Of the ever cannabis users: 39.3% due to lack of effect 14% AEs	Not specified
(Boehnke, & Matallana, & Williams, 2021)	Observational (Survey)	2 month (April-May 2020)	Have used medicinal and the solution of the solution of the solution of the solution method the solution method the solution solution of the solution method the solution solution of the solution the solution of the solution method the solution solution of the solution the solution of the solution the solution of the solution solution of the solution of the solution the solution of the solution of the solution the solution of the solution of the solution the solution of the	CBD [note: one-third of participants also reported past-year medical cannabis use and 20.2% reported using CBD products with >0.3% THC, so benefits may be due to synergism between CBD, THC, and other cannabis plant components rather than CBD alone.	Obtained medicinal cannabis use information Only 28.3% of participants initiated CBD use based on the recommendation of a medical professional or physician	N/N	% reporting "much" or "very much" improvement for the following symptoms: 30.5% for pain, 40.1% for insomnia/sleep problems, 40.0% for anxiety, 20.0% for fatigue, 32.3% for depresion, 21.9% for memory/clarity of thought, and 43.2% for other symptoms	No SAEs reported 51.7% reported sleepiness, 36% dry eyes dry eyes	Rationale for CBD discontinuation ($n =$ 795): participants discontinued due to costs (46.7%), lack of effects (62.3%), negative side effects (8.6%)	2011 FM Survey Criteria and Complex Medical Symptom Inventory (CMSI)

psychological effect. Also, the findings of improved pain and stiffness in the 2 h post-cannabis could be due to a bias effect of the patient receiving a putatively effective drug that is known not to be a placebo. Moreover, the dosage could not be stratified from the data provided (e.g. 1 spoonful of edible). Patients with comorbid symptoms were included in this study but data were not stratified accordingly.

In an observational cross-over study, Yassin, Oron, & Robinson (2019) investigated the effect of adding medicinal cannabis to analgesic treatment in patients with severe low back pain related to FM. 31 patients were recruited (91% female) and underwent an initial 3 month period using standardised analgesic therapy (see Table 2). After this initial 3 months, patients had the option of initiating treatment with medicinal cannabis in combination with standard analgesic treatment, for at least 6 months. Primary outcomes for this study were assessed using the Revised FIQ, VAS, Oswestry Disability Index (ODI) and 12-Item Short Form Survey (SF-12) and lumbar range of motion using the modified Schober test. After 3 months of medicinal cannabis use all primary outcomes significantly improved, which was maintained after 6 months of treatment, with the exception of range of motion which continued to improve. Comparing the AEs from this study, AEs during the medicinal cannabis treatment were mild and included red eyes (90%), increased appetite (16%) and sore throat (10%). However, AES associated with standardised analgesic therapy treatment prior to medicinal cannabis were constipation (48%), loss of appetite (26%), zombie-like feeling (16%) and haemorrhoids (13%) with another 6 patients stopping standardised analgesic therapy due to AEs. This highlights a rather important advantage for cannabis-based medicines as an alternative to opioid therapy. Like other observational studies reported, this study lacked the standardisation of concentration of THC and CBD. Also, compliance wasn't tracked in this cohort via urine sampling for metabolites. This study was only carried out in patients with severe low back pain, so a comparison study would be useful against patients with FM without low back pain and should be carried out using a randomised controlled trial (RCT) to reduce bias. For patients to progress from standardised analgesic therapy to medicinal cannabis, they were aware that they needed to show insufficient efficacy to standardised analgesic therapy in order to obtain regulated medicinal cannabis which could bias the results. Nonetheless, more severe AEs presented in the standardised analgesic therapy group compared with the medicinal cannabis group that also reduced their opiate analgesics. Overall, this study shows that cannabis was well tolerated in a subset of patients with FM and that medicinal cannabis shows promise as a conjunct treatment.

A prospective study with a six months follow-up period was carried out by Sagy (2019). The primary outcome measure for this study was treatment response which was defined by the authors as moderate or significant improvement in a patient's condition at the six months follow-up without the cessation of treatment or serious AEs. Secondary outcomes were pain intensity, assessed using a numeric rating scale, quality of life and perception of the general effect of cannabis, both of which were assessed using a Likert scale. 367 patients with FM were recruited to take part in this study, of which 211 completed the six months follow-up. 49% of participants were 40-60 years old and 82% were female patients, consistent with the reported prevalence of FM. The median duration of FM symptoms was 7 years. 45% of patients had reported previous experience with recreational cannabis in the past. Route of administration were oil (20%), inflorescence (67%) and oil and inflorescence combined (12%) and unspecified (0.05%). The median cannabis approved dosage was 670 mg/day (dried weight) at the beginning of the study and 1000 mg/day at six months (p = 0.01). No serious AEs were observed; common AEs included dizziness (8%), dry mouth (7%), nausea/vomiting (5%), and hyperactivity (6%). The primary outcome measure of treatment success was reported by 81.1% of patients. Significant improvement in pain intensity, overall quality of life and FM-related symptoms were reported after six months of medical cannabis therapy. The large cohort of patients with FM taking part in this study and the relatively long follow-up analysing the effect and

safety of medicinal cannabis on FM symptoms are of particular merit. However, no breakdown or comparison between cannabis routes of administration was provided, and it was not specified if inflorescence was smoking or vaping or if any products were consumed orally by an edible. These are important considerations due to the difference in pharmacokinetics from inhaled vs consumed cannabis. Results need to be interpreted cautiously here due to the risk of bias in this study with a high incidence of recreational use by patients prior to partaking in this study (45%). Evidence from the multivariate regression analysis showed that spasticity at initiation of treatment and previous use of cannabis were associated with treatment success. Moreover, concerns about cannabis treatment were associated with treatment failure. The highlights the need for RCTs to validate results obtained from observational studies.

Recently, a cross-sectional audit carried out in Canada investigated the use of medical cannabis by patients with FM following cannabis legalisation (Fitzcharles, Sampalis, Cohen, & Häuser, 2021). 117 patients with FM were recruited (91.5% female; mean age 57 \pm 12 years). This study involved the completion of questionnaires. Physicians completed the Physician Global Assessment for each patient. Participants completed a questionnaire comprised of: pain in the past 7 days using a VAS, Patient Global Assessment of health status using a VAS, ever and current recreational cannabis use; ever and current medicinal cannabis use. 24% of patients with FM (including those with comorbid rheumatic conditions) had tried medicinal cannabis as a therapeutic intervention, with 57% of those patients reporting continued use (<14% of all patients in this study). No differences in Physician Global Assessment, Patient Global Assessment or pain were found between groups that used medicinal cannabis vs those that have never tried medicinal cannabis though the self-selected nature of the medical cannabis use limits conclusions.

A retrospective review was carried out and examined the effects of licensed medicinal cannabis on patients with FM in an Israeli population which included 26 patients, 19 of whom were female (73%) (Habib & Artul, 2018). The mean duration of FM was 4.3 \pm 2.64 years and all the patients smoked or inhaled cannabis except for one patient who used a combination of smoking and oral oil drops. The mean dose of cannabis was 26 ± 8.3 g per month. Participants completed the Revised FIQ in the period before and after treatment with medicinal cannabis. Also, records on medications prescribed and consumed prior to and while using medicinal cannabis were recorded, as were adverse effects (AEs). Results from this study revealed that 13 patients (50%) were able to cease using other medications and 12 patients (~46%) reduced medications by at least 50% while using medicinal cannabis. AEs reported were dry mouth (27%), red eyes (27%), and hunger feeling (15%). Medicinal cannabis significantly improved ($p \le 0.001$) all items of the Revised FIQ. Results from this study appear to show promise for medicinal cannabis as a treatment for FM symptoms. However, the results should be interpreted with caution for a number of reasons; Revised FIQ results were retrospective, meaning the score prior to starting medicinal cannabis was actually completed after the treatment had commenced, the small sample size and the lack of information on comorbid conditions.

A retrospective study examining the analgesic efficacy of medicinal cannabis and AEs was carried out with patients diagnosed with FM who were deemed resistant to conventional drugs (Mazza, 2021). The primary outcome measure of this study was pain relief, and was assessed using a numerical rating scale. The secondary outcome measures for this study were AEs, which were assessed at monthly follow-up visits by a physician. These include disability, mood disorders, and severity of FM, which were assessed using the ODI, Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale, Widespread Pain Index, and Severity Score, respectively. Participants received licensed medicinal cannabis with various THC and CBD content, as powdered whole flowers (decoction or vaporization) or oil extracts. 35 patients with FM took part in this study with 30, 18, and 12 participants continuing therapy for 1, 3, and

12 months, respectively. Four patients vomited after intake of one sachet of cannabis (Bedrocan 100 mg, n = 2; FM2 100 mg, n = 2) and one other participant experienced several AEs after a single dose, in all 5 participants discontinued medicinal cannabis treatment before reaching the 1 month follow-up. Therefore, 30 patients completed one month of treatment with 67% of them reporting analgesic effects. 18 participants continued to use medicinal cannabis up until 3 months, with 12 discontinuing due to mild AEs or ineffectiveness. Of these participants, 12 completed the 12 month follow-up. The 6 participants that ceased treatment between the 3 month and 12 month follow-ups were not due to AEs, rather, due changes in personal circumstances such as relocation. At 1, 3, and 12 month follow-ups, pain was reduced by at least 30% and there was a significant improvement in both ODI and SyS. There were no significant improvements in the anxiety or depression components of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale at any time point. Widespread Pain Index was significantly improved at 1 and 3 months but not at 12 months.

Of all the observational studies discussed thus far, this study provided the most comprehensive and thorough investigation into medicinal cannabis for patients with FM. One particular strength of the current study was evaluating the effects of long-term medical cannabis therapy (12 months) in a controlled and regulated environment. Another strength of the study was the inclusion of other relevant clinical data such as questionnaires pertaining to comorbid symptoms like anxiety and depression.

Recently, a cross-sectional audit carried out in Canada investigated the use of medical cannabis by patients with FM following cannabis legalisation (Fitzcharles et al., 2021). 117 patients with FM were recruited (91.5% female; mean age 57 \pm 12 years). This study involved the completion of questionnaires. Physicians completed the Physician Global Assessment for each patient. Participants completed a questionnaire comprised of: pain in the past 7 days using a VAS, Patient Global Assessment of health status using a VAS, ever and current recreational cannabis use; ever and current medicinal cannabis use. 24% of patients with FM (including those with comorbid rheumatic conditions) had tried medicinal cannabis as a therapeutic intervention, with 57% of those patients reporting continued use (<14% of all patients in this study). No differences in Physician Global Assessment, Patient Global Assessment or pain were found between groups that used medicinal cannabis vs those that have never tried medicinal cannabis though the self-selected nature of the medical cannabis use limits conclusions.

6.6. Synthetic THC

One of the first published studies to investigate dronabinol, synthetic THC, as monotherapy for FM administered 2.5-15 mg/day (dosage was increased weekly by 2.5 mg if no severe side effects (e.g. sedation) were reported) (Schley, Skopp, Konrad, & Rukwied, 2006). Primary outcome measures were daily pain recordings by the patient, experimentally induced pain, and axon reflex flare recorded by a laser Doppler scanner. This study assessed touch-evoked allodynia, pinprick-induced hyperalgesia, and axon reflex flare, none of which were significantly affected by dronabinol administration at any dose. However, electrically induced pain was significantly attenuated and daily pain recordings were significantly reduced (Cohen's d = 0.4). This pilot study provides some evidence that dronabinol could be recommended for the treatment of FM, one of the main reasons for this being the small sample size which did not provide sufficient statistical power for conclusive investigation of the effects of dronabinol on symptoms of FM. Tolerability of dronabinol was also a factor, with five out of nine suitable patients with FM withdrawing due to adverse effects AEs (see Table 2).

The next available clinical data on dronabinol for FM came from Weber et al., (2009), which was a retrospective study assessing 32 patients with FM as part of a sub-analysis from a larger cohort including patients with chronic neuropathic pain. Participants received a daily dose of 7.5 mg. Pain intensity, maximum pain scores and minimum pain scores all reduced following treatment with dronabinol (Cohen's d = 0.76, 0.69 and 0.69, respectively). Pain intensity did not differ between the FM and neuropathic pain patients, therefore, clinical questionnaire data were not analysed separately. For the FM and neuropathic pain combined questionnaire data, dronabinol significantly improved Pain Disability Index, SF-12 and quality of life (assessed by the pain summary scale) (Cohen's d = 0.53, 0.53 and 0.74, respectively).

There are only two published research articles reporting the effect of nabilone for treatment of FM symptoms. Both studies are RCTs, however, pain associated with FM was only investigated in one of these two research articles (Skrabek, Galimova, & Ethans, 2008). In a double-blinded RCT the therapeutic potential of nabilone for pain management and quality of life improvement were assessed in 40 patients with FM (Skrabek et al., 2008). In this study, patients were recruited from the musculoskeletal practices of attending Psychiatrists and Rheumatologists at the Rehabilitation Hospital. Inclusion criteria included diagnosis by the ACR (1990) criteria, aged between 18 and 78 years, having continued pain despite the use of other oral medications, and no previous use of oral cannabinoids for pain management. Participants were randomly assigned into treatment and control groups (n = 20). Both groups of patients were seen at baseline, 2 weeks and 4 weeks post-treatment and after a 4-week washout period. The primary outcome measure for the 2- and 4-week follow-up visits, was pain score using VAS. Secondary outcome measures included, number of tender points, the average tender point pain threshold, and FIQ. Nabilone was self-administered in an oral capsule with subjects in the treatment group receiving 0.5 mg at bedtime for a 1-week period, with instructions to increase to 0.5 mg twice a day after 7 days. At the 2-week visit, dosage increased to 0.5 mg in the morning and 1 mg at bedtime, with instructions to increase to 1 mg twice a day after 7 days. Patients in the control group received a corresponding placebo. Pain scores, FIQ and anxiety scores were all significantly lower after 4 weeks of treatment with nabilone. The placebo-control group showed no significant improvements. AEs that were reported by the group receiving nabilone include drowsiness, dry mouth and vertigo (47%, 33%, and 27% at the 4week follow-up, respectively). Authors concluded that nabilone appears to be a beneficial, well-tolerated treatment option for patients with FM. However, further research into nabilone as a potential treatment for managing FM pain and anxiety symptoms are warranted to further validate this finding.

Sleep disturbances affect patients with many chronic pain conditions, including FM. Ware, Fitzcharles, Joeseph, & Shir, (2010) carried out a randomised, active-control, equivalency clinical trial using a 2period crossover design, investigating the effects of nabilone on sleep in FM. The primary outcome measure of this study was to determine whether nabilone is equivalent to amitriptyline, a commonly prescribed tricyclic antidepressant, in improving quality of sleep for patients with FM and self-reported insomnia. The secondary outcome measure were to assess the effect nabilone on the other clinical variables associated with FM including pain, mood, quality of life, global satisfaction with the treatment, and adverse effects. This study was carried out over the course of 10 weeks, with 2 weeks alternating between a washout period and treatment. The first, third, and fifth of the 2 week periods were washout phases. Recruitment was through the Pain Clinic at the McGill University Health Centre. Eligible inclusion criteria were males and females over the age of 18 with a diagnosis of FM and who had selfreported chronic insomnia. Study participants were randomly assigned their treatment and self-administered either nabilone or amitriptyline (0.5 mg or 10 mg, respectively) using an oral capsule received either nabilone 0.5 mg or amitriptyline 10 mg at the start of the treatment cycle of the study. A physician evaluated whether dosing should be increased after 1 week of each treatment cycle. After a 2 week washout period, subjects underwent the same protocol but with the other study drug. There were no differences between nabilone and amitriptyline on relief of fibromyalgia symptoms (pain, mood, and quality of life). These findings were reported but the data were not provided, therefore it is difficult to interpret if the two drugs improved equally or did not change from baseline. Compared with amitriptyline, more people experienced mild to moderate AEs with nabilone. At the completion of the trial, 41% of participants reported preference for nabilone, 32% for amitriptyline and there was no report on preference for the remaining 17%.

Reviewing these studies investigating the efficacy of nabilone for FM, the evidence is not of sufficiently high quality to suggest that nabilone is more useful than traditionally prescribed medications as a treatment for FM syndrome. In a meta-analysis and systematic review of cannabinoid effects for rheumatoid diseases including FM, it was found that these studies also had a high risk of bias (Fitzcharles, 2016). The risk of bias was assessed across 5 domains including random sequence, allocation concealment, blinding outcome, incomplete data outcome and size. Given the small sample sizes, the statistically significant results reported may not accurately represent the true effect or potential of the drug for treatment of FM symptoms. Therefore, larger trials are warranted based on these proof of concept studies.

From the literature reviewed, particularly the controlled studies, THC-rich compounds show promise for pain associated with FM. These findings compliment preclinical data demonstrating that inhibition of FAAH, and consequent activation of CB₁, is antinociceptive.

6.7. Current clinical trials with cannabinoids for FM

Currently, there are two clinical trials scheduled to begin recruitment which aim to investigate the use of cannabinoids for treatment of FM symptoms. CBD and THC combined (KL16–012) is currently recruiting for phase 2 clinical trial for use in patients with FM (NCT04239469). This randomised double-blind, placebo-controlled study will recruit 44 patients which will receive a liquid standardised extract of cannabis containing 1 mg of THC and 0.45 mg of CBD or placebo. Administration will be sublingual, while dosing will begin at 3 drops per day and be increased to 15 drops per day by week 5. Primary outcome measure is an improvement in FIQ from baseline to week 12 and secondary outcomes are improved biweekly and monthly FIQ score, improvement in insomnia, improved pain score using VAS and changes in plasma cytokines. The duration of this study will be 12 weeks in total.

CBD is in phase 3 clinical trials for treatment of FM (NCT04729179). The primary outcome measure is pain intensity and secondary outcomes of the trial is to investigate if CBD can improve sleep and quality of life. The study will include 200 patients, who will receive either CBD (starting with 10 mg of CBD daily and the dose will be increased every third day until the maximum dosage of 50 mg is reached (after two weeks)) or placebo in a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group, single centre trial over a period of 24 weeks which is due to be completed in 2023.

There is no record of Nabiximols trials past or present for treatment of FM.

6.8. Effects of cannabinoids on co-morbid symptoms/ chronic overlapping conditions

To our knowledge, there are no RCTs investigating the effect of cannabinoids on symptoms of FM and chronic overlapping conditions such as anxiety, depression and IBS. Many anecdotal reports imply that cannabis is effective for treatment of depressive symptoms. However, to the best of our knowledge there are no RCTs for cannabinoid treatment of depression and it has been concluded that there is currently no highquality evidence to support the use of cannabis in the treatment of mood symptoms or affective disorders (Black et al., 2019). The biphasic effect of cannabis, particularly THC, whereby high doses are anxiogenic and low doses are anxiolytic, have been shown in both rodent and human studies (Karschner, McMahon, Wright, & Huestis, 2011; Rey & Viveros, 2012). A number of RCTs have investigated the use of CBD for treatment of anxiety. These studies have demonstrated CBD to be effective at reducing self-reported anxiety scores (Bergamaschi, 2011; Crippa et al., 2011), cortisol levels following the Trier Social Stress Test (Appiah-Kusi, Wilson, Bossong, & Mondelli, 2020) and social anxiety (Masataka, 2019).

A recent cross-sectional online survey of a population of medical marijuana users (n = 367) in Illinois, United States, found that almost 50% of the responders reported severe FM (Bruce & Shattell, 2021). Pain was the most frequently reported use for medicinal cannabis at 74.9%, followed by anxiety (65.7%), insomnia (56.4%) and depression (49.3%). Interestingly in terms of chronic-overlapping conditions, 75.5% of the participants reported two or more of these symptoms.

A small randomised, double blind, placebo controlled, cross-over trial assessed dronabinol in healthy volunteers and patients with irritable bowel syndrome (Klooker, Van Den Wijngaard, & Boeckxstaens, 2011). This study, and others, found that dronabinol did not reduce visceral perception to rectal distension in healthy volunteers or patients with IBS (Wong, Busciglio, Szarka, & Zinsmeister, 2011; Wong, Eckert, Ryks, & Zinsmeister, 2012). This evidence does not support the potential use of dronabinol in patients with concurring FM and irritable bowel syndrome. Moreover, in a recent retrospective cross-section study, patients with IBS and cannabis use disorder were at 40.7% higher odds for IBS-hospitalisations with a rising trend of cannabis use disorder and related psychiatric comorbidities. This is a significant finding given the psychiatric comorbidities associated with IBS and FM, which could exacerbate IBS symptoms and health-related quality of life. Nonetheless, there are studies targeting the endocannabinoid system that have shown promise, such as dietary supplementation with PEA and polydatin which has been reported to significantly improve abdominal pain (Cremon et al., 2017). Overall it can be concluded that there are few studies investigating the use of cannabis and cannabinoids for IBS and given the scarcity of data, more research is warranted.

6.9. Gaps in the literature and limitations

While evidence from the studies described show a possible implication of the endocannabinoid system in FM, it cannot be concluded that there is sufficient evidence for the proposed hypothesis of clinical endocannabinoid deficiency (Russo, 2004). Rather, from the limited studies available it appears that FM is more associated with elevated levels of endocannabinoids. The elevated levels of endocannabinoids and related NAEs reported in a number of studies (Kaufmann et al., 2008; Stensson et al., 2017; Stensson et al., 2020) are possibly a compensatory mechanism. However, further research is essential in order to validate this hypothesis and would require longitudinal studies, large patient cohorts and interventions such as FAAH inhibitors or CB₁ antagonists e.g. rimonabant to determine causality. Nonetheless, evidence of a CNR1 polymorphism could indicate that there are indeed alterations in cannabinoid signalling at the level of the receptor, rather than (or in addition to), changes circulating endocannabinoid levels. In order to fully interpret this result, the full functional implications of the SNP needs to be investigated, including the relevance to subpopulations of patients. Given the overlap with other conditions, could it have the potential to be biomarker along with other genetic alterations within the serotonergic system and provide a more stringent diagnosis criteria? Currently, there are very few studies reporting levels of circulating endocannabinoids and related NAEs in patients with FM or chronic widespread pain. This represents a substantial gap in the literature that should be addressed.

Within the published clinical trial literature there several limitations. Overall, it can be concluded that the majority of clinical trials described are at least at a moderate risk of bias. Due to the nature of observational studies and the psychoactivity of cannabis/cannabinoids, patients can be aware that they are receiving an active drug and a significant portion of participants have used cannabis recreationally prior to receiving it for treatment of FM symptoms. It is difficult to recommend or interpret a specific dosage, cannabis product or route of administration that would provide the most effective therapy for symptoms related to FM. It is also difficult to monitor compliance to the treatment which could result in findings that are misleading or difficult to interpret. Also, due to the heterogeneous nature of FM, distinct subpopulations with chronic over-lapping conditions are often excluded from studies therefore, cohorts of patients with FM studied do not truly reflect the variable clinical phenotype. There is also a lack of consistency in diagnosis of FM along with limitations to the ACR criteria such as imprecise language and definition, a lack of clarity regarding FM diagnosis when co-occurring with other diseases and reliability of diagnosis or exclusion of other pain syndromes (Wolfe, Fitzcharles, Häuser, & Mease, 2016). Finally, study duration is another limitation of many of the reviewed studies. Most studies only last for a number of weeks or months, therefore, no conclusions can be extrapolated regarding the long-term safety and efficacy. This is a particular limitation due to FM being a chronic disorder. Moreover, sample sizes at present remain small.

Currently, there is not enough high-quality evidence to indicate that cannabis or cannabinoids are at least as efficacious as other currently available treatments. More robust, high quality RCTs are required with increased sample sizes, rigorous dosing regimens, consistency with inclusion/exclusion criteria and clear outcome measures coupled with more high quality real world evidence studies.

7. Discussion and conclusion

FM is a complex, heterogeneous condition that is poorly understood and lacks effective treatments, partly due to the broad-spectrum polysymptomology. Reviewing the literature from preclinical and clinical data, has identified a number of gaps and limitations. Currently, face, construct and predictive validity have not been comprehensively established in a particular animal model for FM. This represents a major challenge in preclinical research into FM. The relatively new model, RIM, has emerged as the most translational model developed thus far. Not least because of its reproducibility in both male and female rodents, but also the induction of less ubiquitous symptoms, which is more representative of the diverse subgroups within patient populations of FM (Nagakura, 2009; Nagakura et al., 2019). Nonetheless, characterisation of the endocannabinoid system is yet to be carried out in this model. The use of a FAAH inhibitor restored muscle pressure thresholds in the RIM model, demonstrating the effectiveness of modulating the endocannabinoid system in alleviating pain in a model of FM (Kiso & Sekizawa, 2020). However, the effect of FAAH inhibition on spontaneous pain-like behaviour was not assessed, a cardinal feature of FM, therefore, it would be important to establish if inhibition of FAAH reduces this behaviour. Moreover, this model has its limitations and discordant symptoms, such as altered locomotor activity and hypokinesia (Blasco-Serra, González-Soler, Blasco-Ausina, & Cervera-Ferri, 2015), which occur upon induction of the model but cease 5 days after the last reserpine administration. This is not surprising, given reserpine is also used to induce models of Parkinson's disease by repetitive dosing (Leal, 2019).

SIH models are, to the best of our knowledge, the only models that have investigated components of the endocannabinoid system in a model related to FM. Therefore, overall, preclinical data from animal models have not demonstrated the involvement of the endocannabinoid system in FM. Not only is there a need to characterise the endocannabinoid system in models of FM but also to carry out studies involving cannabinoid-modulating drugs to determine their therapeutic potential. Presently, observational studies and RCTs show a high degree of variability which needs to be addressed and informed by preclinical research in FM models.

Given the small number of trials, it cannot be ruled out that synthetic THC or CBD may have therapeutic potential for treatment of FM. There are many advantages to using pharmaceutical-grade oral cannabinoids such as nabilone and dronabinol, including standardised concentrations or doses and easy route of administration. However, there are limitations to oral cannabinoids such as the low bioavailability of THC (6–20% (Wall, Brine, & Perez-Reyes, 1983)) and CBD (13–19% (Millar & O'Sullivan, 2018)), which is predominantly due to its lipophilic nature and extensive first pass metabolism. Furthermore, extracts and synthetic cannabinoids may lack the so-called 'entourage effect' hypothesised with whole cannabis plant that contains a plethora of phytocannabinoids and terpenes, although further research is required to test this hypothesis. Another route of administration that could be of benefit to patients with FM is transdermal skin patches for localised musculoskeletal pain. These could avoid first-pass metabolism and offer additional benefits such as reduced frequency of dosing, slow release over a prolonged period to minimise adverse effects, and less abuse potential.

Self-medication with unregulated cannabis such as the observational study conducted by Fiz et al., (2011) offers an additional challenge when interpreting data. This is due to the variable potency of cannabis which has shown to be increasing in THC concentration in both dispensaries and the illegal market. A recent systemic review has shown that between 1975 and 2017, THC concentrations from herbal cannabis and resin have increased yearly by 0.29% and 0.59%, respectively (Freeman, Wilson, ElSohly, & Lynskey, 2021). This is an important consideration, given the analgesic and anxiolytic effects of cannabinoids have shown to be dose-dependent in studies of chronic pain and anxiety (Patel & Hillard, 2006; Wallace, Marcotte, Umlauf, Gouaux, & Atkinson, 2015). Self-medication and opioid-sparring using CBD as an alternative has recently been reported in a large online survey in patients with FM. The over-prescription of some pain medications and the ongoing opioid epidemic highlights the need for alternative therapies and the potential role for CBD (Boehnke, 2021).

A possible mechanisms of action through which CBD may be beneficial for FM could be through enhancement of endogenous AEA levels through inhibition of intracellular fatty-acid binding proteins that are responsible for the transport of AEA to its catabolising enzyme FAAH (Elmes et al., 2015). Other possible mechanisms include modulation of serotonergic transmission (particularly positive allosteric modulation of 5-HT_{1A}) (Jesus et al., 2019), desensitisation of TRPV1 (Anand, Jones, Korchev, Pacchetti, & Sodergren, 2020) and antagonism of GPR55 (Ryberg, Sjögren, Hermansson, & Elebring, 2007). It is worth noting that there are multiple molecular targets for CBD (de Almeida & Devi, 2020), with some studies reporting more than 60 (Ibeas Bih, Chen, Bazelot, & Whalley, 2015). However, the precise mechanisms of action are yet to be elucidated.

Based on the reviewed literature, inhaled cannabis has been shown to be the most beneficial in terms of pain, quality of life and sleep. However, there are inherent limitations to inhaled cannabis, such as undefined long-term effects. Moreover, significant variations in methodological approach, herbal cannabis preparations, treatment duration, small sample sizes and narrow demographic of patients, preclude the recommendation of its immediate use for treatment of FM symptoms.

Cannabis (including extracts, synthetic and phytocannabinoids) with various THC/CBD concentrations have demonstrated to be efficacious for a spectrum of chronic conditions, some of which include epilepsy (Hausman-Kedem & Kramer, 2018), cancer pain and emesis (Blake, Malek, & Diaz, 2017; Tramèr & Campbell, 2001), human immunodeficiency virus and chronic pain (Wilsey & Deutsch, 2013). Based on the evidence from the available literature, it is difficult to draw any robust conclusions or make recommendations for the use of cannabisbased medicines from the treatment of FM. Currently, there is not enough high-quality evidence to indicate that cannabis is superior or at least as efficacious as other currently available treatments. Promising patient reported outcomes indicate the potential for cannabinoid-based drugs for the treatment of FM, particularly given the lack of serious AEs associated with their use. However, there is an overarching need to conduct more RCTs with increased sample sizes, rigorous dosing regimens, and consistency with the inclusion/exclusion criteria, more extensive outcome measures, and inclusion of longitudinal studies to assess efficacy and tolerability.

Declaration of Competing Interest

DJN is Chair of the charity Drug Science and AKS is Head of Research of Drug Science. Drug Science receives an unrestricted educational grant from a consortium of medical cannabis companies. AKS is scientific advisor to the Primary Care Cannabis Network, and executive member of the Cannabis Industry Council. Both roles are unpaid and neither AKS nor DJN would stand to benefit from the wider prescription of medical cannabis in any form. SOS is VP of Translational Sciences at Artelo Biosciences, and an independent consultant to several pharmaceutical companies through CanPharmaConsulting. None of these businesses are working in fibromyalgia. DPF reports research grants in the area of cannabinoids or the endocannabinoid system and pain from Shionogi Ltd. (Shionogi Science Programme) and from B. Braun Ltd. jointly with Science Foundation Ireland.

Acknowledgments

The research conducted in this publication was funded by the Irish Research Council under grant number GOIPG/2019/3945.

References

- Alexander, DeVries, Kigerl, Dahlman, & Popovich (2009). Stress exacerbates neuropathic pain via glucocorticoid and NMDA receptor activation. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity* 23, 851–860.
- Al-Nimer, Mohammad, & Alsakeni (2018). Serum levels of serotonin as a biomarker of newly diagnosed fibromyalgia in women: Its relation to the platelet indices. Journal of Research in Medical Sciences : The Official Journal of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences 23, 71.
- Anand, Jones, Korchev, Bloom, Pacchetti, Anand, & Sodergren (2020). CBD effects on TRPV1 signaling pathways in cultured DRG neurons. *Journal of Pain Research* 13, 2269–2278.
- Appiah-Kusi, Petros, Wilson, Colizzi, Bossong, Valmaggia, Mondelli, McGuire, & Bhattacharyya (2020). Effects of short-term cannabidiol treatment on response to social stress in subjects at clinical high risk of developing psychosis. *Psychopharmacology* 237, 1121–1130.
- Arnold, Hudson, Keck, Auchenbach, Javaras, & Hess (2006). Comorbidity of fibromyalgia and psychiatric disorders. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry* 67, 1219–1225.
- Arout, Sofuoglu, Bastian, & Rosenheck (2018). Gender differences in the prevalence of fibromyalgia and in concomitant medical and psychiatric disorders: A National Veterans Health Administration Study. *Journal of Women's Health 2002*(27), 1035–1044.
- Bardin, Malfetes, Newman-Tancredi, & Depoortère (2009). Chronic restraint stress induces mechanical and cold allodynia, and enhances inflammatory pain in rat: Relevance to human stress-associated painful pathologies. *Behavioural Brain Research* 205, 360–366.
- Barke, Korwisi, Jakob, Konstanjsek, Rief, & Treede (2022). Classification of chronic pain for the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11): results of the 2017 international World Health Organization field testing. PAIN, 163.
- Baumeister, Eich, Saft, Geisel, Hellweg, Finn, ... Tesarz (2019). No evidence for altered plasma NGF and BDNF levels in fibromyalgia patients. Scientific Reports 9, 13667.
- Bayrak (2020). Metabolic syndrome, depression, and fibromyalgia syndrome prevalence in patients with irritable bowel syndrome: A case-control study. *Medicine 99*, Article e20577.
- Benzinou, Chèvre, Ward, Lecoeur, Dina, Lobbens, Durand, Delplanque, Horber, Heude, Balkau, Borch-Johnsen, Jørgensen, Hansen, Pedersen, Meyre, & Froguel (2008). Endocannabinoid receptor 1 gene variations increase risk for obesity and modulate body mass index in European populations. *Human Molecular Genetics* 17, 1916–1921.
- Bergamaschi, Queiroz, Chagas, de Oliveira, De Martinis, Kapczinski, Quevedo, Roesler, Schröder, Nardi, Martín-Santos, Hallak, Zuardi, & Crippa (2011). Cannabidiol reduces the anxiety induced by simulated public speaking in treatment-naïve social phobia patients. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 36, 1219–1226.
- Ibeas, Bih, Chen, Nunn, Bazelot, Dallas, & Whalley (2015). Molecular targets of Cannabidiol in neurological disorders. *Neurotherapeutics* 12, 699–730.
- Black, Stockings, Campbell, Tran, Zagic, Hall, ... Degenhardt (2019). Cannabinoids for the treatment of mental disorders and symptoms of mental disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry*.
- Blake, Wan, Malek, DeAngelis, Diaz, Lao, Chow, & O'Hearn (2017). A selective review of medical cannabis in cancer pain management. *Annals of Palliative Medicine* 6, S215–s222.
- Blankman, Simon, & Cravatt (2007). A comprehensive profile of brain enzymes that hydrolyze the endocannabinoid 2-arachidonoylglycerol. *Chemistry & Biology* 14, 1347–1356.

- Blanton, Barnes, McHann, Bilbrey, Wilkerson, & Guindon (2021). Sex differences and the endocannabinoid system in pain. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 202*, Article 173107.
- Blasco-Serra, Escrihuela-Vidal, González-Soler, Martínez-Expósito, Blasco-Ausina, Martínez-Bellver, ... Valverde-Navarro (2015). Depressive-like symptoms in a reserpine-induced model of fibromyalgia in rats. *Physiology & Behavior* 151, 456–462.
- Boehnke, Gagnier, Matallana, & Williams (2021). Substituting Cannabidiol for opioids and pain medications among individuals with fibromyalgia: A large online survey. *The Journal of Pain 22*, 1418–1428.
- Bonaterra, Then, Oezel, Schwarzbach, Ocker, Thieme, ... Kinscherf (2016). Morphological alterations in gastrocnemius and soleus muscles in male and female mice in a fibromyalgia model. *PLoS One* 11, Article e0151116.

Breivik, Collett, Ventafridda, Cohen, & Gallacher (2006). Survey of chronic pain in Europe: Prevalence, impact on daily life, and treatment. European Journal of Pain 10, 287–333.

- Brill, Ablin, Goor-Aryeh, Hyat, Slefer, & Buskila (2012). Prevalence of fibromyalgia syndrome in patients referred to a tertiary pain clinic. *Journal of Investigative Medicine* 60, 685–688.
- Bruce, Foster, & Shattell (2021). Perceived efficacy of medical Cannabis in the treatment of co-occurring health-related quality of life symptoms. *Behavioral Medicine* 47, 170–174.
- Da Silva, Brum, Becker, Fialho, & Oliveira (2021). Animal models of fibromyalgia: What is the best choice? *Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 107959.
- Buskila, Neumann, Sibirski, & Shvartzman (1997). Awareness of diagnostic and clinical features of fibromyalgia among family physicians. *Family Practice* 14, 238–241.
- Dalle, Carbonare, Del, Giudice, Stecca, Colavito, ... Leon (2008). A saturated N-Acylethanolamine other than N-Palmitoyl ethanolamine with anti-inflammatory properties: A neglected story.... Journal of Neuroendocrinology 20, 26–34.
- Chaves, Bittencourt, & Pelegrini (2020). Ingestion of a THC-Rich Cannabis Oil in People with Fibromyalgia: A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Clinical Trial. *Pain Medicine* 21, 2212–2218.
- Choy, Perrot, Leon, Kaplan, Petersel, Ginovker, & Kramer (2010). A patient survey of the impact of fibromyalgia and the journey to diagnosis. BMC Health Services Research 10, 102.
- Cohen, Buskila, Neumann, & Ebstein (2002). Confirmation of an association between fibromyalgia and serotonin transporter promoter region (5- HTTLPR) polymorphism, and relationship to anxiety-related personality traits. *Arthritis and Rheumatism* 46, 845–847.
- Console-Bram, Brailoiu, Brailoiu, Sharir, & Abood (2014). Activation of GPR18 by cannabinoid compounds: A tale of biased agonism. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 171, 3908–3917.
- Consoli, Marazziti, Ciapparelli, Bazzichi, Massimetti, Giacomelli, Rossi, Bombardieri, & Dell'Osso (2012). The impact of mood, anxiety, and sleep disorders on fibromyalgia. *Comprehensive Psychiatry* 53, 962–967.
- Cordero, Alcocer-Gómez, Cano-García, De Miguel, Sánchez-Alcázar, & Moreno Fernández (2010). Low levels of serotonin in serum correlates with severity of fibromyalgia. *Medicina Clínica* 135, 644–646.
- Cravatt, Giang, Mayfield, Boger, Lerner, & Gilula (1996). Molecular characterization of an enzyme that degrades neuromodulatory fatty-acid amides. *Nature* 384(6604), 83–87. https://doi.org/10.1038/384083a0.
- Cremon, Stanghellini, Barbaro, Cogliandro, Bellacosa, Santos, ... Barbara (2017). Randomised clinical trial: The analgesic properties of dietary supplementation with palmitoylethanolamide and polydatin in irritable bowel syndrome. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 45, 909–922.
- Crippa, Derenusson, Ferrari, Wichert-Ana, Duran, Martin-Santos, ... Hallak (2011). Neural basis of anxiolytic effects of cannabidiol (CBD) in generalized social anxiety disorder: A preliminary report. Journal of Psychopharmacology 25, 121–130.
- Crocq (2020). History of cannabis and the endocannabinoid system. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience 22*, 223–228.
- Devane, Dysarz, Johnson, Melvin, & Howlett (1988). Determination and characterization of a cannabinoid receptor in rat brain. *Molecular Pharmacology* 34, 605–613.
- De, Almeida, & Devi (2020). Diversity of molecular targets and signaling pathways for CBD. *Pharmacology Research & Perspectives 8*, Article e00682.
- Dina, Levine, & Green (2011). Enhanced cytokine-induced mechanical hyperalgesia in skeletal muscle produced by a novel mechanism in rats exposed to unpredictable sound stress. *European Journal of Pain 15*, 796–800.
- Dinh, Carpenter, Leslie, Freund, Katona, Sensi, Kathuria, & Piomelli (2002). Brain monoglyceride lipase participating in endocannabinoid inactivation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 99, 10819–10824.
- Djouhri, Newton, Levinson, Berry, Carruthers, & Lawson (2003). Sensory and electrophysiological properties of guinea-pig sensory neurones expressing Nav 1.7 (PN1) Na+ channel α subunit protein. *The Journal of Physiology* 546, 565–576.
- Elmes, Kaczocha, Berger, Leung, Ralph, Wang, ... Deutsch (2015). Fatty acid-binding proteins (FABPs) are intracellular carriers for △9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) and cannabidiol (CBD). The Journal of Biological Chemistry 290, 8711–8721.
- Faber, Hoeijmakers, Ahn, Cheng, Han, Choi, ... Gerrits (2012). Gain of function Nav1. 7 mutations in idiopathic small fiber neuropathy. Annals of Neurology 71, 26–39.
- Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, Ambite-Quesada, Gil-Crujera, Cigarán-Méndez, & Peñacoba-Puente (2012). Catechol-O-methyltransferase Val158Met polymorphism influences anxiety, depression, and disability, but not pressure pain sensitivity, in women with fibromyalgia syndrome. *The Journal of Pain* 13, 1068–1074.
- Finocchi, & Strada (2014). Sex-related differences in migraine. Neurological Sciences 35, 207–213.
- Fitzcharles, & Boulos (2003). Inaccuracy in the diagnosis of fibromyalgia syndrome: Analysis of referrals. *Rheumatology* 42, 263–267.

- Fitzcharles, Baerwald, Ablin, & Häuser (2016). Efficacy, tolerability and safety of cannabinoids in chronic pain associated with rheumatic diseases (fibromyalgia syndrome, back pain, osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis). Der Schmerz 30, 47–61.
- Fitzcharles, Rampakakis, Sampalis, Shir, Cohen, Starr, & Häuser (2021). Use of medical cannabis by patients with fibromyalgia in Canada after cannabis legalisation: A cross-sectional study. *Clinical and Experimental Rheumatology* 39(130), 115–119.
- Fiz, Durán, Capellà, Carbonell, & Farré (2011). Cannabis Use in Patients with Fibromyalgia: Effect on Symptoms Relief and Health-Related Quality of Life. *PLOS One* 6(4), e18440. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0018440.
- Freeman, Craft, Wilson, Stylianou, ElSohly, Di Forti, & Lynskey (2021). Changes in delta-9tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) and cannabidiol (CBD) concentrations in cannabis over time: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Addiction 116, 1000–1010.
- Fujisawa, Ohtani-Kaneko, Naiki, Okada, Masuko, Yudoh, Suematsu, Okamoto, Nishioka, & Kato (2008). Involvement of post-translational modification of neuronal plasticity-related proteins in hyperalgesia revealed by a proteomic analysis. *Proteomics 8*, 1706–1719.
- Gaisey, & Narouze. (2021). Dronabinol (Marinol®) S. N. Narouze Cannabinoids and pain (105–107). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Galvez-Sánchez, Duschek, & Reyes Del Paso (2019). Psychological impact of fibromyalgia: Current perspectives. Psychology research and behavior management. Vol. 12. (pp. 117–127). Dove Medical Press.
- Gamaro, Xavier, Denardin, Pilger, Ely, Ferreira, & Dalmaz (1998). The effects of acute and repeated restraint stress on the nociceptive response in rats. *Physiology & Behavior* 63, 693–697.
- Gerra, González-Villar, Arendt-Nielsen, Søkilde Pedersen, Triñanes, Donnini, ... Carrillode-la-Peña (2021). A family-based study to identify genetic biomarkers of fibromyalgia: Consideration of patients' subgroups. *Clinical and Experimental Rheumatology* 39 (Suppl. 130), 144–152.
- Giannoccaro, Donadio, Incensi, Avoni, & Liguori (2014). Small nerve fiber involvement in patients referred for fibromyalgia. *Muscle & Nerve* 49, 757–759.
- Giesecke, Williams, Harris, Cupps, Tian, Tian, ... Clauw (2003). Subgrouping of fibromyalgia patients on the basis of pressure-pain thresholds and psychological factors. *Arthritis and Rheumatism* 48, 2916–2922.
- Giorgi, Bongiovanni, Atzeni, Marotto, Salaffi, & Sarzi-Puttini (2020). Adding medical cannabis to standard analgesic treatment for fibromyalgia: a prospective observational study. *Clinical Experimental Rheumatology* 38(123), 53–59.
- Gonsiorek, Lunn, Fan, Narula, Lundell, & Hipkin (2000). Endocannabinoid 2-arachidonyl glycerol is a full agonist through human type 2 cannabinoid receptor: Antagonism by anandamide. *Molecular Pharmacology* 57, 1045–1050.
- Gregory, Gibson-Corley, Frey-Law, & Sluka (2013). Fatigue-enhanced hyperalgesia in response to muscle insult: Induction and development occur in a sex-dependent manner. *PAIN* 154, 2668–2676.
- Guerrero-Alba, Barragán-Iglesias, González-Hernández, Valdez-Moráles, Granados-Soto, Condés-Lara, ... Marichal-Cancino (2019). Some prospective alternatives for treating pain: The endocannabinoid system and its putative receptors GPR18 and GPR55. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 9.
- Habib, & Artul (2018). Medical Cannabis for the treatment of fibromyalgia. Journal of Clinical Rheumatology 24, 255–258.
- Hanuš, Meyer, Muñoz, Taglialatela-Scafati, & Appendino (2016). Phytocannabinoids: A unified critical inventory. *Natural Product Reports. Vol.* 33. (pp. 1357–1392). The Royal Society of Chemistry.
- Harrison, & Simpson (2021). Nabilone (Cesamet). In S. N. Narouze (Ed.), Cannabinoids and pain (pp. 109–112). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Häuser, Sarzi-Puttini, & Fitzcharles (2019). Fibromyalgia syndrome: under-, over- and misdiagnosis. Clinical and Experimental Rheumatology 37(Suppl. 116), 90–97.
- Häuser, Kosseva, Üceyler, Klose, & Sommer (2011). Emotional, physical, and sexual abuse in fibromyalgia syndrome: A systematic review with meta-analysis. Arthritis Care & Research 63, 808–820.
- Hausman-Kedem, Menascu, & Kramer (2018). Efficacy of CBD-enriched medical cannabis for treatment of refractory epilepsy in children and adolescents – An observational, longitudinal study. *Brain and Development* 40, 544–551.
- Hong, Fan, Kemmerer, Evans, Li, & Wiley (2009). Reciprocal changes in vanilloid (TRPV1) and endocannabinoid (CB1) receptors contribute to visceral hyperalgesia in the water avoidance stressed rat. *Gut* 58, 202–210 2008/10/20.
- Hong, Zheng, Wu, Snider, Owyang, & Wiley (2011). Corticosterone mediates reciprocal changes in CB 1 and TRPV1 receptors in primary sensory neurons in the chronically stressed rat. In. *Gastroenterology* 140, 627–637.e624 2010/11/09.
- Ibrahim, Porreca, Lai, Albrecht, Rice, Khodorova, Davar, Makriyannis, Vanderah, Mata, & Malan (2005). CB2 cannabinoid receptor activation produces antinociception by stimulating peripheral release of endogenous opioids. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 102, 3093–3098.
- Jahan, Nanji, Qidwai, & Qasim (2012). Fibromyalgia syndrome: An overview of pathophysiology, diagnosis and management. Oman Medical Journal 27, 192–195.
- Jennings, Okine, Roche, & Finn (2014). Stress-induced hyperalgesia. Progress in Neurobiology. Vol. 121. (pp. 1–18). Elsevier Ltd.
- Jennings, Okine, Olango, Roche, & Finn (2016). Repeated forced swim stress differentially affects formalin-evoked nociceptive behaviour and the endocannabinoid system in stress normo-responsive and stress hyper-responsive rat strains. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry* 64, 181–189.
- Jesus, Redivo, Gasparin, Sotomaior, de Carvalho, Genaro, ... da Cunha (2019). Cannabidiol attenuates mechanical allodynia in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats via serotonergic system activation through 5-HT1A receptors. Brain Research 1715, 156–164.
- Ji, Nackley, Huh, Terrando, & Maixner (2018). Neuroinflammation and central sensitization in chronic and widespread pain. Anesthesiology 129, 343–366.

- Jiang, Nie, Li, & Zhang (2014). Association of cannabinoid type 1 receptor and fatty acid amide hydrolase genetic polymorphisms in Chinese patients with irritable bowel syndrome. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 29, 1186–1191.
- Jones, Gelbart, Whisenant, Waalen, Mondala, Iklé, Salomon, Bennett, Kurian, & Exp, & Author (2016). Genome-wide expression profiling in the peripheral blood of patients with fibromyalgia HHS Public Access Author manuscript. *Clinical and Experimental Rheumatology* 34, 89–98.
- Juhasz, Lazary, Chase, Pegg, Downey, Toth, Stones, Platt, Mekli, Payton, Anderson, Deakin, & Bagdy (2009). Variations in the cannabinoid receptor 1 gene predispose to migraine. *Neuroscience Letters* 461, 116–120.
- Karschner, Darwin, McMahon, Liu, Wright, Goodwin, & Huestis (2011). Subjective and physiological effects after controlled Sativex and oral THC administration. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 89, 400–407.
- Kaufmann, Schelling, Eisner, Richter, Krauseneck, Vogeser, Hauer, Campolongo, Chouker, Beyer, & Thiel (2008). Anandamide and neutrophil function in patients with fibromyalgia. Psychoneuroendocrinology 33, 676–685.
- Kaur, Singh, Singh, Bhatti, & Bhatti (2019). Ameliorative effect of imperatorin in chemically induced fibromyalgia: Role of NMDA/NFkB mediated downstream signaling. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 166, 56–69.
- Kawanishi, Fukuda, Tamura, Nishijo, & Ono (1997). Effects of repeated cold stress on feeding, avoidance behavior, and pain-related nerve fiber activity. *Physiology & Behavior* 62, 849–855.
- Kayhan, Küçük, Satan, İlgün, Arslan, & İlik (2016). Sexual dysfunction, mood, anxiety, and personality disorders in female patients with fibromyalgia. *Neuropsychiatric Disease* and Treatment 12, 349–355.
- Khasar, Dina, Green, & Levine (2009). Sound stress-induced long-term enhancement of mechanical hyperalgesia in rats is maintained by sympathoadrenal catecholamines. *The Journal of Pain 10*, 1073–1077.
- Kim, & Kim (2018). Sex-gender differences in irritable bowel syndrome. Journal of Neurogastroenterology and Motility 24, 544–558.
- Kiso, Watabiki, & Sekizawa (2020). ASP8477, a fatty acid amide hydrolase inhibitor, exerts analgesic effects in rat models of neuropathic and dysfunctional pain. In. European Journal of Pharmacology 881, 173194.
- Kleykamp, Ferguson, McNicol, Bixho, Arnold, Edwards, ... Dworkin (2021). The prevalence of psychiatric and chronic pain comorbidities in fibromyalgia: An ACTTION systematic review. Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism 51, 166–174.
- Klooker, Leliefeld, Van Den Wijngaard, & Boeckxstaens (2011). The cannabinoid receptor agonist delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol does not affect visceral sensitivity to rectal distension in healthy volunteers and IBS patients. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility 23*, 30–e32.
- Korem, Duek, Xu, Harpaz-Rotem, & Pietrzak (2021). Cannabinoid receptor 1 rs1049353 variant, childhood abuse, and the heterogeneity of PTSD symptoms: Results from the National Health and resilience in veterans study. *Chronic Stress* 5 24705470211011075.
- Kosmidis, Koutsogeorgopoulou, Alexopoulos, Mamali, Vlachoyiannopoulos, Voulgarelis, ... Dalakas (2014). Reduction of Intraepidermal nerve Fiber density (IENFD) in the skin biopsies of patients with fibromyalgia: A controlled study. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences* 347, 143–147.
- Krcevski-Skvarc, Wells, & Häuser (2018). Availability and approval of cannabis-based medicines for chronic pain management and palliative/supportive care in Europe: A survey of the status in the chapters of the European pain federation. European Journal of Pain 22, 440–454.
- Kwilasz, Abdullah, Poklis, Lichtman, & Negus (2014). Effects of the fatty acid amide hydrolase inhibitor URB597 on pain-stimulated and pain-depressed behavior in rats. *Behavioural Pharmacology* 25, 119–129.
- Laprairie, Bagher, Kelly, & Denovan-Wright (2015). Cannabidiol is a negative allosteric modulator of the cannabinoid CB1 receptor. British Journal of Pharmacology 172, 4790–4805.
- Lauckner, Jensen, Chen, Lu, Hille, & Mackie (2008). GPR55 is a cannabinoid receptor that increases intracellular calcium and inhibits M current. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105, 2699–2704.
- Leal, Bispo, Engelberth, De A Silva, Meurer, Ribeiro, Silva, Marchioro, & Santos (2019). Serotonergic dysfunction in a model of parkinsonism induced by reserpine. *Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy* 96, 73–78.
- Lim, Maixner, & Khan (2011). Temporomandibular disorder and comorbid pain conditions. Journal of the American Dental Association 1939(142), 1365–1367.
- Lin, Ko, Chow, Hsiao, Liu, Wang, & Chen (2021). Salivary cortisol is associated with cognitive changes in patients with fibromyalgia. *Scientific Reports* 11, 1311.
- Lomazzo, Bindila, Remmers, Lerner, Schwitter, Hoheisel, & Lutz (2015). Therapeutic potential of inhibitors of endocannabinoid degradation for the treatment of stressrelated hyperalgesia in an animal model of chronic pain. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 40, 488–501.
- Lu, Ogdie, Järvelin, Moilanen, Loo, McCracken, McGough, Yang, Peltonen, Nelson, Cantor, & Smalley (2008). Association of the cannabinoid receptor gene (CNR1) with ADHD and post-traumatic stress disorder. American journal of medical genetics. Part B, Neuropsychiatric Genetics : the official publication of the International Society of Psychiatric Genetics 147B, 1488–1494.
- Masataka (2019). Anxiolytic effects of repeated Cannabidiol treatment in teenagers with social anxiety disorders. Frontiers in Psychology 10, 2466.
- Mazza (2021). Medical cannabis for the treatment of fibromyalgia syndrome: A retrospective, open-label case series. *Journal of Cannabis Research* 3, 4.
- McGilveray (2005). Pharmacokinetics of cannabinoids. Pain Research & Management 10, Article 242516.
- Millar, Stone, Yates, & O'Sullivan (2018). A systematic review on the pharmacokinetics of Cannabidiol in humans. Frontiers in Pharmacology 9, 1365.

Mogil (2012). Sex differences in pain and pain inhibition: Multiple explanations of a controversial phenomenon. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 13, 859–866.

Morales, Hurst, & Reggio (2017). Molecular targets of the phytocannabinoids: a complex picture. Progress in the Chemistry of Organic Natural Products. 103. (pp. 103–131).

- Mota, Sumner, Lowe, Neumeister, Uddin, Aiello, ... Pietrzak (2015). The rs1049353 polymorphism in the CNR1 gene interacts with childhood abuse to predict posttraumatic threat symptoms. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry* 76, e1622–e1623.
- Muller, Morales, & Reggio (2019). Cannabinoid ligands targeting TRP channels. Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience 11, 487.

Munro, Thomas, & Abu-Shaar (1993). Molecular characterization of a peripheral receptor for cannabinoids. *Nature* 365, 61–65.

- Nagakura, Oe, Aoki, & Matsuoka (2009). Biogenic amine depletion causes chronic muscular pain and tactile allodynia accompanied by depression: A putative animal model of fibromyalgia. *PAIN* 146, 26–33.
- Nagakura (2015). Recent advancements in animal models of fibromyalgia. *MYOPAIN* 23, 104–111.
- Nagakura, Miwa, Yoshida, Miura, Tanei, Tsuji, & Takeda (2019). Spontaneous painassociated facial expression and efficacy of clinically used drugs in the reserpineinduced rat model of fibromyalgia. In. European Journal of Pharmacology 864, 172716.
- Nasu, Taguchi, & Mizumura (2010). Persistent deep mechanical hyperalgesia induced by repeated cold stress in rats. *European Journal of Pain 14*, 236–244.
- Nazeri, Zarei, Pourzare, Ghahreh-Chahi, Abareghi, & Shabani (2017). Evidence of altered trigeminal nociception in an animal model of fibromyalgia. *Pain Medicine* 19, 328–335.
- Nishiyori, Uchida, Nagai, Araki, Mukae, & Kishioka (2011). Permanent relief from intermittent cold stress-induced fibromyalgia-like abnormal pain by repeated intrathecal administration of antidepressants. *Molecular Pain* 7(69).
- Nishiyori, & Ueda (2008). Prolonged gabapentin analgesia in an experimental mouse model of fibromyalgia. *Molecular Pain* 4 1744-8069-1744-1752.
- Nugraha, Korallus, & Gutenbrunner (2013). Serum level of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in fibromyalgia syndrome correlates with depression but not anxiety. *Neurochemistry International* 62, 281–286.
- Oaklander, Herzog, Downs, & Klein (2013). Objective evidence that small-fiber polyneuropathy underlies some illnesses currently labeled as fibromyalgia. PAIN® 154, 2310–2316.
- Oh, Parikh, Khurana, Cognata Smith, & Vetticaden (2017). Effect of food on the pharmacokinetics of dronabinol oral solution versus dronabinol capsules in healthy volunteers. *Clinical Pharmacology : Advances and Applications 9*, 9–17.
- Ohara, Kawamura, Namimatsu, Miura, Yoneda, & Hata (1991). Mechanism of hyperalgesia in SART stressed (repeated cold stress) mice: Antinociceptive effect of neurotropin. *The Japanese Journal of Pharmacology* 57, 243–250.
- Ohno-Shosaku, Maejima, & Kano (2001). Endogenous cannabinoids mediate retrograde signals from depolarized postsynaptic neurons to presynaptic terminals. *Neuron 29*, 729–738.
- Olango, & Finn (2014). Neurobiology of stress-induced hyperalgesia. Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences, 20.
- O'Sullivan (2007). Cannabinoids go nuclear: Evidence for activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 152, 576–582.
- Pan, Banks, Fasold, Bluth, & Kastin (1998). Transport of brain-derived neurotrophic factor across the blood-brain barrier. *Neuropharmacology* 37, 1553–1561.
- Park, Choi, Cho, Lee, Kim, Choi, & Chung (2011). Cannabinoid receptor 1 gene polymorphism and irritable bowel syndrome in the Korean population: A hypothesisgenerating study. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology* 45, 45–49.
- Patel, & Hillard (2006). Pharmacological evaluation of cannabinoid receptor ligands in a mouse model of anxiety: Further evidence for an anxiolytic role for endogenous cannabinoid signaling. The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 318, 304–311.
- Penn, Chuang, Chuang, Lin, & Kao (2019). Bidirectional association between migraine and fibromyalgia: Retrospective cohort analyses of two populations. *BMJ Open 9*, Article e026581.
- Peres, Young, Kaup, Zukerman, & Silberstein (2001). Fibromyalgia is common in patients with transformed migraine. *Neurology* 57, 1326–1328.
- Henao, Pérez, López, Medina, Arboleda, Ramírez, Bedoya, Monsalve, Zea, & Osorio (2020). Neuropsychiatric comorbidity in patients with fibromyalgia. *Revista Colombiana de Reumatología (English Edition)* 27, 88–94.
- Perucca, & Bialer (2020). Critical aspects affecting Cannabidiol Oral bioavailability and metabolic elimination, and related clinical implications. CNS Drugs 34, 795–800.
- Quintero, Moreno, Avila, Arcaya, Maixner, & Suarez-Roca (2000). Long-lasting delayed hyperalgesia after subchronic swim stress. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior* 67, 449–458.
- Ranzolin, Duarte, Bredemeier, Da Costa Neto, Ascoli, Wollenhaupt-Aguiar, Kapczinski, & Xavier (2016). Evaluation of cytokines, oxidative stress markers and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in patients with fibromyalgia - A controlled cross-sectional study. *Cytokine* 84, 25–28.
- Rey, Purrio, Viveros, & Lutz (2012). Biphasic effects of cannabinoids in anxiety responses: CB1 and GABA(B) receptors in the balance of GABAergic and glutamatergic neurotransmission. Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology 37, 2624–2634.
- Riva, Mork, Westgaard, Rø, & Lundberg (2010). Fibromyalgia syndrome is associated with hypocortisolism. International Journal of Behavioral Medicine 17, 223–233.
- Rubin, Lemberger, Warrick, Crabtree, Sullivan, Rowe, & Obermeyer (1977). Physiologic disposition of nabilone, a cannabinol derivative, in man. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 22, 85–91.
- Russell, Vaeroy, Javors, & Nyberg (1992). Cerebrospinal fluid biogenic amine metabolites in fibromyalgia/fibrositis syndrome and rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism* 35, 550–556.

- Russell, Orr, Littman, Vipraio, Alboukrek, Michalek, ... Mackillip (1994). Elevated cerebrospinal fluid levels of substance p in patients with the fibromyalgia syndrome. *Arthritis* and Rheumatism 37, 1593–1601.
- Russo (2004). Clinical endocannabinoid deficiency (CECD): Can this concept explain therapeutic benefits of cannabis in migraine, fibromyalgia, irritable bowel syndrome and other treatment-resistant conditions? *Neuro Endocrinology Letters* 25, 31–39.
- Ryberg, Larsson, Sjögren, Hjorth, Hermansson, Leonova, ... Greasley (2007). The orphan receptor GPR55 is a novel cannabinoid receptor. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 152, 1092–1101.
- Sagar, Gaw, Okine, Woodhams, Wong, Kendall, & Chapman (2009). Dynamic regulation of the endocannabinoid system: Implications for analgesia. *Molecular Pain* 5, 59.
- Sagy, Bar-Lev Schleider, Abu-Shakra, & Novack (2019). Safety and efficacy of medical Cannabis in fibromyalgia. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 8, 807.
- Sarchielli, Mancini, Floridi, Coppola, Rossi, Nardi, ... Calabresi (2007). Increased levels of Neurotrophins are not specific for chronic migraine: Evidence from primary fibromyalgia syndrome. *The Journal of Pain 8*, 737–745.
- Sarzi-Puttini, Giorgi, Marotto, & Atzeni (2020). Fibromyalgia: An update on clinical characteristics, aetiopathogenesis and treatmen. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology* 16, 645–660.
- Savinainen, Järvinen, Laine, & Laitinen (2001). Despite substantial degradation, 2arachidonoylglycerol is a potent full efficacy agonist mediating CB(1) receptordependent G-protein activation in rat cerebellar membranes. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 134, 664–672.
- Scheich, Vincze, Szőke, Borbély, Hunyady, & Szolcsányi (2017). Chronic stress-induced mechanical hyperalgesia is controlled by capsaicin-sensitive neurones in the mouse. *European Journal of Pain 21*(8), 1417–1431.
- Schley, Legler, Skopp, Schmelz, Konrad, & Rukwied (2006). Delta-9-THC based monotherapy in fibromyalgia patients on experimentally induced pain, axon reflex flare, and pain relief. *Current Medical Research and Opinion.* 22. (pp. 1269–1276).
- Serra, Collado, Solà, Antonelli, Torres, Salgueiro, ... Bostock (2014). Hyperexcitable C nociceptors in fibromyalgia. Annals of Neurology 75, 196–208.
- Shen, Yang, Qian, & Hou (2010). The role of peripheral cannabinoid receptors type 1 in rats with visceral hypersensitivity induced by chronic restraint stress. *Journal of Neurogastroenterology and Motility* 16, 281–290 2010/07/27. Korean Society of Neurogastroenterology and Motility.
- Skrabek, Galimova, Ethans, & Perry (2008). Nabilone for the treatment of pain in fibromyalgia. In. The Journal of Pain 9, 164–173.
- Sluka, Price, Breese, Stucky, Wemmie, & Welsh (2003). Chronic hyperalgesia induced by repeated acid injections in muscle is abolished by the loss of ASIC3, but not ASIC1. *PAIN* 106, 229–239.
- Sluka, Kalra, & Moore (2001). Unilateral intramuscular injections of acidic saline produce a bilateral, long-lasting hyperalgesia. *Muscle & Nerve* 24, 37–46.
- Smith, Maixner, Fillingim, Slade, Gracely, Ambrose, ... Diatchenko (2012). Large candidate gene association study reveals genetic risk factors and therapeutic targets for fibromyalgia. Arthritis and Rheumatism. Vol. 64. (pp. 584–593).
- Smith, Stanley, Foss, Boles, & McKernan (2017). Rare genetic variants in the endocannabinoid system genes CNR1 and DAGLA are associated with neurological phenotypes in humans. *PLoS One 12*, Article e0187926.
- Starowicz, & Finn (2017). Cannabinoids and pain: Sites and mechanisms of action. Advances in Pharmacology 80, 437–475.
- Steffens, Zentner, Honegger, & Feuerstein (2005). Binding affinity and agonist activity of putative endogenous cannabinoids at the human neocortical CB1 receptor. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 69, 169–178.
- Stella, Schweitzer, & Piomelli (1997). A second endogenous cannabinoid that modulates long-term potentiation. Nature 388, 773–778.
- Stensson, Ghafouri, Ernberg, Mannerkorpi, Kosek, Gerdle, & Ghafouri (2018). The relationship of Endocannabinoidome lipid mediators with pain and psychological stress in women with fibromyalgia: A case-control study. *The Journal of Pain* 19, 1318–1328.
- Stensson, Gerdle, Ernberg, Mannerkorpi, Kosek, & Ghafouri (2020). Increased anandamide and decreased pain and depression after exercise in fibromyalgia. *Medicine* and Science in Sports and Exercise. 52. (pp. 1617–1628).
- Stensson, Ghafouri, Gerdle, & Ghafouri (2017). Alterations of anti-inflammatory lipids in plasma from women with chronic widespread pain - A case control study. *Lipids in Health and Disease. Vol. 16.* (pp. 1–9). Lipids in Health and Disease.
- Suardíaz, Estivill-Torrús, Goicoechea, Bilbao, Rodríguez, & de Fonseca (2007). Analgesic properties of oleoylethanolamide (OEA) in visceral and inflammatory pain. PAIN® 133, 99–110.
- Syed, Bui, Beavers, Farb, Ficorilli, Chesterfield, Kuo, Bokvist, Barrett, & Efanov (2012). Regulation of GPR119 receptor activity with endocannabinoid-like lipids. American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and Metabolism 303, E1469–E1478.
- Tham, Yilmaz, Alaverdashvili, Kelly, Denovan-Wright, & Laprairie (2019). Allosteric and orthosteric pharmacology of cannabidiol and cannabidiol-dimethylheptyl at the type 1 and type 2 cannabinoid receptors. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 176, 1455–1469.
- Toledo-Aral, Moss, He, Koszowski, Whisenand, Levinson, Wolf, Silos-Santiago, Halegoua, & Mandel (1997). Identification of PN1, a predominant voltage-dependent sodium channel expressed principally in peripheral neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 94, 1527–1532.
- Da Silva, Torres, Cucco, Bassani, Duarte, Silveira, ... Ferreira (2003). Long-lasting delayed hyperalgesia after chronic restraint stress in rats-effect of morphine administration. *Neuroscience Research* 45, 277–283.
- Tramèr, Carroll, Campbell, Reynolds, Moore, & McQuay (2001). Cannabinoids for control of chemotherapy induced nausea and vomiting: Quantitative systematic review. *Bmj* 323, 16–21.

- Üçeyler, Häuser, & Sommer (2008). A systematic review on the effectiveness of treatment with antidepressants in fibromyalgia syndrome. *Arthritis Care & Research* 59, 1279–1298.
- van de Donk, Niesters, Kowal, Olofsen, Dahan, & Van Velzen (2019). An experimental randomized study on the analgesic effects of pharmaceutical-grade cannabis in chronic pain patients with fibromyalgia. *PAIN 160*, 860–869.
- Üçeyler, Zeller, Kahn, Kewenig, Kittel-Schneider, Schmid, Casanova-Molla, Reiners, & Sommer (2013). Small fibre pathology in patients with fibromyalgia syndrome. Brain 136, 1857–1867.
- Uguz, Çiçek, Salli, Karahan, Albayrak, Kaya, & Uğurlu (2010). Axis I and Axis II psychiatric disorders in patients with fibromyalgia. *General Hospital Psychiatry* 32, 105–107.
- Vargas-Alarcon, Alvarez-Leon, Fragoso, Vargas, Martinez, Vallejo, & Martinez-Lavin (2012). A SCN9A gene-encoded dorsal root ganglia sodium channel polymorphism associated with severe fibromyalgia. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders 13, 23.
- Vincent, Lahr, Wolfe, Clauw, Whipple, Oh, ... St Sauver (2013). Prevalence of fibromyalgia: A population-based study in Olmsted County, Minnesota, utilizing the Rochester epidemiology project. Arthritis Care & Research 65, 786–792.
- Wakatsuki, T, Uchimura, Matsubara, Nasu, Mizumura, & Taguchi (2021). Peripheral nociceptive mechanisms in an experimental rat model of fibromyalgia induced by repeated cold stress. *Neuroscience Research* 162, 22–30.
- Wall, Sadler, Brine, Taylor, & Perez-Reyes (1983). Metabolism, disposition, and kinetics of delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol in men and women. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 34, 352–363.
- Ware, Fitzcharles, Joseph, & Shir (2010). The effects of nabilone on sleep in fibromyalgia: Results of a randomized controlled trial. Anesthesia and Analgesia 110(2), 604–610.
- Watabiki, Tsuji, Kiso, Ozawa, Narazaki, & Kakimoto (2017). In vitro and in vivo pharmacological characterization of ASP8477: A novel highly selective fatty acid amide hydrolase inhibitor. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 815, 42–48.
- Weber, Schley, Casutt, Gerber, Schueopfer, Rukwied, & Konrad (2009). Tetrahydrocannabinol (Delta 9-THC) treatment in chronic central neuropathic pain and fibromyalgia patients: Results of a multicenter survey. *Anesthesiology Research and Practice*.
- Whitehead, Palsson, & Jones (2002). Systematic review of the comorbidity of irritable bowel syndrome with other disorders: What are the causes and implications? *Gastroenterology* 122, 1140–1156.
- Wilsey, Marcotte, Deutsch, Gouaux, Sakai, & Donaghe (2013). Low-dose vaporized cannabis significantly improves neuropathic pain. *The Journal of Pain 14*, 136–148.
- Wolfe, Brähler, Hinz, & Häuser (2013). Fibromyalgia prevalence, somatic symptom reporting, and the dimensionality of polysymptomatic distress: Results from a survey of the general population. *Arthritis Care & Research* 65, 777–785.

- Wolfe, Clauw, Fitzcharles, Goldenberg, Häuser, Katz, ... Walitt (2016). 2016 revisions to the 2010/2011 fibromyalgia diagnostic criteria. Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism 46, 319–329.
- Wolfe, Clauw, Fitzcharles, Goldenberg, Katz, Mease, ... Yunus (2010). The American College of Rheumatology preliminary diagnostic criteria for fibromyalgia and measurement of symptom severity. Arthritis Care & Research 62, 600–610.
- Wolfe, Russell, Vipraio, Ross, & Anderson (1997). Serotonin levels, pain threshold, and fibromyalgia symptoms in the general population. *The Journal of Rheumatology* 24, 555–559.
- Wolfe, Smythe, Yunus, Bennett, Bombardier, Goldenberg, Tugwell, Campbell, Abeles, & Clark (1990). The American College of Rheumatology 1990 criteria for the classification of fibromyalgia. Arthritis & Rheumatism: Official Journal of the American College of Rheumatology 33, 160–172.
- Wong, Camilleri, Busciglio, Carlson, Szarka, Burton, & Zinsmeister (2011). Pharmacogenetic trial of a cannabinoid agonist shows reduced fasting colonic motility in patients with nonconstipated irritable bowel syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 141, 1638–1647. e1637.
- Wong, Camilleri, Eckert, Carlson, Ryks, Burton, & Zinsmeister (2012). Randomized pharmacodynamic and pharmacogenetic trial of dronabinol effects on colon transit in irritable bowel syndrome-diarrhea. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility : the Official Journal of the European Gastrointestinal Motility Society 24*, 358–e169.
- Xu, Zhang, Shao, Ruan, Wang, Sun, ... Pan (2013). Ferulic acid increases pain threshold and ameliorates depression-like behaviors in reserpine-treated mice: Behavioral and neurobiological analyses. *Metabolic Brain Disease 28*, 571–583.
- Yassin, Oron, & Robinson (2019). Effect of adding medical cannabis to analgesic treatment in patients with low back pain related to fibromyalgia: an observational cross-over single centre study. *Clinical Experimental Rheumatology* 37(116), 13–20.
- Yeo, Boyd, Lumsden, Saunders, Handley, Stubbins, Knaggs, Asquith, Taylor, Bahari, Crocker, Rallan, Varsani, Montgomery, Alpers, Dukes, Purvis, & Hicks (2004). Association between a functional polymorphism in the serotonin transporter gene and diarrhoea predominant irritable bowel syndrome in women. *Gut* 53, 1452–1458.
- Yong, Mullins, & Bhattacharyya (2022). Prevalence of chronic pain among adults in the United States. *PAIN* 163, e328–e332.
- Zou, & Kumar (2018). Cannabinoid receptors and the endocannabinoid system: Signaling and function in the central nervous system. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 19, 833.
- Zuo, Kranzler, Luo, Covault, & Gelernter (2007). CNR1 variation modulates risk for drug and alcohol dependence. *Biological Psychiatry* 62, 616–626.